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Sm THOMAS WHITE, K.C., 
appearing on his own behalf. 

Sm THOMAS WHITE (Continuing his argument): May it please your lord­
ship: before resuming the thread of my argument, I desire to complete the 
references which I gave imperfectly, on Friday, with re,-pect to those :,ections 
of the Bank Act which are mandatory upon the Minister, the Treasury Board, 
and tl;,e Governor in Council, as distinguished from those sections which are 
permissive. In the forme,r case the word " shall " is used, and in the latter the 
,word " may." Instead of adding to those numbers of sections which I have 
already m~ntioned, I desire for the convenience of your lordship, to place the 
enumerations of all the sections now upon tlie record, and I am referring to the 
,Bank Act of 1913; not to the revision of 1923: 

The sections -are: section 15, subsection· 3. Section 17, subsection 1. Section 
33, subsection 3. Section 56, subsection 3. Section 56, subsection 8. Section 60, 
,subsection 2. Section 61, subsection 8. Section 64, subsection 2. And then 
sections 84, 106, 107 and 115, subsection 2. And in order to fix my point in 
your lordship's mind, I desire briefly to refer to a few of these sections· to 
which I did not specifically refer on Friday. , 

I did refer to sertion 15, subsection .3, which provides that no certificate 
shall be given by .the Treasury Board until it has been shown to the satisfaction 
pf the Board, by affidavit or otherwise, that all the requirements of this Act 
and of the special Act of incorporation of the bank, as to the subscriptions to the 
capital stock have been complied with. 

Now 33, subsection 3,_ as to capital stock issued; 

" No such certificate shall be issued by the Treasury Board unless 
application therefor is made within three months from the time of the 
passing of the by-law." 
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Then 56, subsection 3:-
'·The Minister shall communicate his disapproval, if any, to the 

Association." 

56, subsection 8:-
"If the appointment of auditor is' not made, the Minister shall, on 

the written appliration of the Ehareholders, appoint ·an auditor." 

Section 60, subsection 2:- . 
"The Minister shall make such arrangements as are necessary for 

ensuring the delivery of Dominion notes to any bank, in exchange for an 
equivalent amount of gold coin." 

Rection 64, subsection 2:-
"The Minister shall retain certain moneys." 

Then section 84. 
Hrs LORDSHIP: 84 is "may." 
Sir THOl\I\S WHITE: Yes, I beg pardon; 84 must come out of the list. 

The next is 106. A very strong section. The approval of the Governor-in­
Council shall not be given; the Government itr,elf is not to act, unless in certain 
conditions. The words are " shall not." 107. " The agreement ::;hail not be 
approved". 

115. sub~Prtion 2:-
''The Governor-in-Council shall on the report of the Treasury Board, 

direct payment". 

Now those are the references, my lord, and in order that I may not have 
to return and supplement in my recapitulation I desire to give your lordship 
one or two other references from Todd as to the right to review the honest 
executive artion of a Minister or a Governor, and e"pecially with regard to 
ex-Ministers. Vol. 2, page 519:-

"lt is of course competent to Parliament"-to Parliament, not to 
tqe executive-"to investigate particular matters of complaint against 
individual ex-Ministers whenever facts come to light whirh call for 
inquiry." 

It is Parliament not the• executive GovertlmPnt of Canada, which can do 
this; and therefqre my point is,, my lord, that Sir Henry Drayton and myself 
:are subject to criticism in Parliament just as is Mr. Fielding, and as a matter 
,of fact our policy and actions are constantly brought under review and 
criticism in Parliament, although personally I have no seat in Parliament and 
am no longer a Minister. 

Now a~ to the general power of Parliament, I have just this brief quotation, 
from Vol: 1 at pages 416 and 417. The quotation here is from Pitt, quoted by 
Todd as authentic:-~ 

" That the House of Commons had the constitutional power to 
inquire into the conduct of any department of the Government was 
unquestionable." 

"Note: the House is to inquire. A limited power of delegation is 
conferred by the Inquiries Act." 

But that Act, .as I have stated to your lordship, does not apply to a 
Minister of the Crown. Now just in that connection I may say to your 
lordship that I limit my contention to case's of unconditional honest executive 
discretionary action. If the executive act is conditioned and mandatory by 
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legi:;;lation, where the Minister is an instrument to carry out the will of 
Parliament, a Commisi:;ion may find that the condition existed and whether 
power was exercised or not. Or, if chargrs of corruption are brought against 
a Minister, a Commission may find the fact~ and• report for the information 
of the Government and of Parliament. _ 

Then the next submission I have to make, quite honestly and seriously, 
i'elates to a defiinition of terms. I have used in -my previous argument, and I 
intend to use in my further argument a little later, two expre;:;sions which I 
employed on Friday. The one wafl the word "wise acre"; the other was 
"retro,;pective imagination." The word wise acre is derived from the German 
word ''weisagger".. It meant originally a foreteller or a prophet;- then later it 
was applied in the ordinary sense to a wise person, but that meaning is now 
archaic. And now it is defined in Webster's National Dictionary, that a 
wisracre is a person making undue Professions of wisdom, or, "a would-be wise 
persons." Brewer's "Dictionary of Phrase and Fable" contains this definition: 
" Applied to dunces, wise only in their own conceit.'' 

Now I desire "to define, myself, the expression "retrospective imagination" 
as I shall use the term in my argument. I define it as follows: that remarkable 
faculty whereby many worthy persons are enabled to delude themselves into 
the sincere belief that they would upon critical past occasions of vast public 
responsibility have acted much more wisely than those,; who were actually 
charged with that re:;ponsibility. , 

The delusion is harmless and indeed beneficient, beeause it confers upon 
thosP subje<"t to it a happy albeit a fictitiou~ semc> of their own innate 
superiority of judgment. That is my definition of retrospective imagination. 

Now, my lord, before taking up the evid.ence rclnting to the period 1916-
1918, I desire to picture to your lordship the conditions then prevailing about 
which your lordship asked me at the close of my evidence. Your lordship is 
asked to substitute your mind now for my mind .then. Here we are in a 
coilstered room in a period of profound peace; outside, the ordinary activities 
of men are proceeding in the normal way. In Parliament and in the press there 
are disputations upon the immemorial political que~tion::; of surplus or no 
surplus; Free Trade or Protection. My point is that we have pre-war topics 
of discui:-sion. 

I am going to as~your lordship to let your memory and your imagination 
take you by the hand and transport you to a very different scene, six to eight 
years ago, when every morning and evening newspaper brought tidings of some 
appalling disaster by sea or by land, a period when thei~mpire and our Allies 
were locked in a life aT,J.d de'ath struggle with the most tormidable combination 
of foes in all history, fighting for their national exi,;t,ence, and indeed for civiliza­
tion itself, every i:;inew braced, every nerve tensed, no one knowing whether the 
war, sir, would last two years, or five years, or ten years, or go on the destruction 
of the world. The weapons which were employed were men and money, the 1 

courage of men and the power of money, which is credit. Those were the 
weapons with which the war -':as fought and with which the war wa"! won. 

For conciseness, because I. could give it to your lordship in a discursive 
way, I am goingf to read a few sections, very compact and brief, from "The 
Story .of Canad~ s War Finance," which I wrote immediately after the war 
dealing with this period:-

" It was not until the clo'-e of the year 1915 that the Canadian 
people fully realized the life-and-death character of the struggle in which 
the Empire was engaged " . . . . 

"Speaking of the war in the Budget of February, 1916,"-I had my Budget 
in February, 1916, the time that these letters were being written and received. 
In that Budget I used the following language:- • 
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" 'The ronflict has developeJ and extended upon a scale and to an 
extent for beyond our expertat:on-; or imagings at its incE'ption. Looking 
barkward over its tragir rourse and reflecting upon its varied fortunes, 
there has grown in the hearts and minds of all an ever-deepening sense 
of its increasing gravity and menace to the Empire's sufety.' 

"In view of the gravity of the situation and with the objert also 
of produring a heartening effert throughout the Empire, Sir Robert 
Borden announred on New Year\; Day, 1916, that Canada's authorized 
enlistment would be extmclcd to a total of half a million men.'' 

Then it goes on: - • 
• " When the decision wa-; reached inrreasing enlistment to 500,000 

men, not one of us had any clear view as to how so many additional men 
could be raised or where the n:eressarv monev would rome from. We 
siJllply went on faith, feeling instinctively th;t what we decided upon 
was right and that means would be found to enable us to rarry it out.'' 

T~rnn _the booklet goes on_ to describe the financing of that year, very heavy 
financmg m New York and m Canada, and, further, the amounts which were 
taken by heavy additional taxation to raise a part of the expenditure. 

Towards the middle of 1916, the same yPar, speaking of Great Britain's finance, I said this:-

" Tbe burden of this financing beeume exceedingly heavy. The 
Titan was beginning to bow beneath the load. Expenditure in the 
United States had become a monster into whose insatiate maw flowed 
an ever-increa,:ing ,;tream of gold from the Treasury of Britain. In 
Canada also Briti-,h rommitments for munitions were runnings at the 
rate of twenty-five millions a month, of which we were furnishing by 
way of credits about fifteen millions." 

Continuing further on:-
" On July 28, i916, I received a rable despatch from Right Honour­

able Bonar Law, Colonial Serretary, stating that 'it would be of the 
greatest as,;;istance to His Majesty's Government' if I 'could arrange 
to come to London at the earliest possible date to give an opportunity 
of di,..cu,;;sing the question of Canadian and American purcha:;es per­
sonally ' with me. The despatch expressed apprPciation of the financial 
help already given by Canada and stafod that arrangemf'nt.., for future • 
finance would be greatly facilitated ' by surh a survey of the whole ques-
tion as a visit -.ould alone render possible.'" 

I go on to say:-
" It was not po,~ible for me to go over:::.eas at that time as I was 

fully engaged at Ottawa with busined of an urgent chararter, and I was 
abo preparing for the i,,-:sue of the second dompstic war loan early in the 
autumn. On August 12th I re<'eived a further cable, ~tating that it 
wa;:; considered most important that I should come over and ' give the 
benefit of mv advice with regard to the whole situation at the earlie~t 
possible moment.' " 

Then I rereived a further cable from Sir George Perley, •,-tating the desi,re 
of the Chancellor that I C'hould go to London for the purpose of disrnssing the 
whole financial :,ituation, whieh seemed to make it unde:;:irable that I should 
further delay, and, after eonrnltation wit.h the Prime Mini:,;tcr and my rollcaguc:-, 
I decided to go. . There is a o-reat deal more about 1916, and I need not say to your lord,,!up 
it was a very ~ritiral year, but this wa-; the period when, according to the 
eloquent expre:::sion of my learned friend, ~fr. Lee,_ I was aslePp in a ~mrn. If 
he had crossed the sea in the l\[ mtrctania, as I did from Hahfax, with 3,000 
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Canadian troops in the foce of one of the most formidable concentrations of the 
German submarine department to get that boat, the last thing that would have 

been in his mind, I assure your lordship, would have been sleep. 
Now I come to 1917. I say there that we discussed, over there, not only 

the extent of the 'aid that Canada could give by way of money but also Great 
Britain's finance in the United 8tates. I was asked to a conference at which 
Mr. J. P. Morgan was present representing the rnited States financiers. 

I might say to your lordship, generally, that through the entire period of 
the war, from 1916 on, I was in constant touch with the British authorities, 
and advised not only with regard to our own finance but with regard to 
Great Britain's financing in the United States. ' 

The booklet goes on:-
" There 'Was no question as to the need to Great Britain of con­

tinuing to purchase in America to the utmo:::'t extent. The German 
submarine campaign was developing with frightful rapidity and effect­
fveness. Daily, the papers contained reports of sinkings of merchant 
vessels. Daily, Britain and her Allies were being bled white by the 
tremendous drain upon their resources. The policy was to strain every 
nerve and bring to bear every power to bring to an end the war which 
threatened to destroy the world by exhau,stion before a final decision 
could be obtained." 

And then it goes on to say how much Great Britain depended upon thr 
supplies of steel, copper, and other products of the United States, and of 
Canada as well. 

J\fr. SYMINGTON: What book are you reading from? 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: "The Story of Canada's War Finance". I am going 
to present it to you later on, and, as I say, I could have put that in evidence. 
As a matter of fact, if there is any objection to my reading -it, I would be very 
glad to give thi:,; in my address, and the reason why I read it is because Mr. Lee 
has made various references to the condition of mind in which I was. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: I have made no objection to it, Sir Thomas. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: "I won't be very long. I come to the year 1917:-

" The year 1917 was probably the most trying period of the war. 
It was a time of deep anxiety and uncertainty as to the outcome. While 
it marked the entry of the United States on the side of the Allies, it was 
also j,he year of Ru~sia's revolution and sub,:equent collapse. The German 
submarine campaign was at the height of its power and destructiveness." 

Then I go on to refer to the lo,ss of Canadian lives at the front, and to 
the wide-;pread grief throughout the Dominion, the work that was done by 
patriotic men and women in connection with the Red Cro1:i.,; and kindred asso­
ciations, and I say:-

" For the first time the Canadian people were upon a war basis, 
instip.ct with the spirit of sacrifice and self denial which must be evoked 
before the full power of a democracy can be brought to bear.'' 

Now, this is very important which I am going to draw your lordship's 
attention to. I testified to this in my evidence:-

• 

" At one time during the year there was an agitation for what was 
called the ' conscription -of wealth.' This was taken by some to mean 
the confiscation of deposits in our chartered banks, and in consequence 
of the publicity given to the expre:,sion there were 'runs' in certain 
parts of Canada. So ::ierious did the matter become that I was obliged 
to make a statement in the Hou1:ic of Commons that so far from intend­
ing to copfiscate deposits, the Government's policy was to promote and 
foster national savings." 
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And that wafi the year of the exten::-ion of the bu::liness profit:; tax, and the introduction of the income tax. 
Just one further a:; to 1917:-

" At the stage of the war of which I am now writing, the demand upon the Dominion Trea:;ury for money was becoming exceedinglr heavy. 
We had to provide not only for our rapidly mounting war exprncliture in Canada but al-;o the ever-increa,:,ing credits required by Great Britain for her purchases of Canadian munition;:; and other ::;upplie:-. For this 
last purpose we were lending her twenty-five million dollars a month, 
and in addition, the sum of ten million dollar:; for a 1:'hipbuildmg pro­
gramme which she wa::3 currying out in Canadian yards. We floated our third dome"tic war loan in ~farch of 1917, and in the rnmmer placed an issue of one hundred million <lollar::l of two-year notes in New York. 
This last-nq.med i:-~ue wa-; the lea~t srn·ressful of the public flotations made by the Government during the war. We had to arrange to have a 
part of it specially subscribed and it immediately fell to a diEcount after allotment. The reason for it-, non-sucrcs::; was that the United State:; had declared war in April, and American investors were con-;erving their resour<"CS for the purpose1- of their own national finance,;." 

That was the period when, a<·rording to my learned friend, Mr. Lee, I was asleep at the switch, although I had to go away shortly after 1917, in January of 1918, berau,..p I could not sleep. Now, we come to our Virtory Loan organi­zation in 1917-18:-
" That, organization was formed in 1917 and perfectnd during the 

nexi, two years. It, wm,, I believe, one of the mo:-t efficient in operation anywhere in the world. It combined profe,-:-.;ional and lay ability. Thol:le engaged in the seC"urities businel:ls in Canada under:;tood thoroughly the 
most modern methods of marketing bonds. Associated with them was a body of mo1-t earnest men and women in every part of Canada patriotic­ally devoting' their thought and energy to the service of these loans. The 
publicity C'ampaign was organized most efficiently by the Canadian 
Prc.,;s which probably more than any othn single factor, PX< cpt the 
patriotism of the people, had to do with the success of these great flota­
tions. The work of the chartered banks in receiving and handling rnb­
scriptions was invalual;>le. The C'O-operation of all fraternal and other societie::l, loan, trust and life insurance companirs, the schools and churchrs cif Canada, was artively enlisted, and with all ther:-e agenrir-; at work the impetus of a Victory Loan movement, once it got under way, was irresistible. I had a gn•at deal of heavy work at the outset in get­
ting the organization extended over the whole Dominion and in smooth­
ing out diffirnltie& which l'ontinually arose. I am happy to say that no 
question of politics ever entrrcd into these campaigns. I do not recall hearing a single complaint as to di;,rrimination on this ground. Most 
assuredly, the Government had the whole-hearted support of the entire co~munity in- its war finance." 

Then the booklet continues, further on:-
" The proceed" of the f'rcond Victory Loan, which was floated about the tirne of the Armistice in 1918. gave the Government funds with which to meet the trying period followinp; upon the war. They were thus 

enabled to provide, among other things, a gratuity of more than one hundred and thirty million dollars to Canada's returned soldiers for their maintenance during the un,3cttled condition'> which thPn ensued. It also enabled us to continue shipbuilding and proYide credits for the purcha~e of Canadian product-,, all of whieh was of the highest conse­
quence to Canadian industry at t.hat critical time." 
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I do not know whether Mr. Lee thought that at that time I was, to use his­
expression again, " a heavenly ble~ing" or a " lovely ornament," which, he 
said, the country could not afford. 

Tho-;e are all the quotations from "'.fhe Story of Canada's War Finance." 
Mr. LEE: Are you putting that in? 
Sir THOMAS ·WHITE: No, no, I am just giving it to the reporter. 
Mr. LEE: I suppose it should be put in. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I have no objection to it going in. 
Mr. LEE: If you have quoted from it, it should be put in. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I have no objection to it going in. 

EXHIBIT No. 179. 

Filed hy Sir Thomas White, May 19, 1924. 

The Story of Canada's War Finance. 

Sir THOMAS "WHITE: I have :;aid we were engaged in financing our own 
loans, and in financing Britain, so that, at the close of the war, Great Britain 
owed us four hundred million dollars. That our dollar stands as it does to-day, 
and that our credit is as high as it is, is due to Canada's war finance, and to the 
produrtive energies, of the people of Canada, which were ba~ed upon that 
financing without which they could nt:)t have found scope. 

The banks, at that period, took my Treasury bills, pending loans, to the 
extent of fifty, seventy-five or a hundred million dollars at a time. All the 
banks had large deposits from tlfe Dominion Gov(!rnment representing the 
amount which their variom depositors had contributed by way of subscriptions 
to our Victory Loan. • 

Now, your lordship, I am getting back to the very point before you, to 
which this has been preliminary. It is necessary for a Minister, in exerric;ing 
his discretion at any time, to be rareful. I need not :;ay to your lordship how 
necess:1ry it was for a Minister to be careful in dealing with any bank at that 
time .. 

Our friends, the wiseacres, say that you can investigate a bank with 
impunity. Notwithst:.mding all the evidence of accountants, I know from my 
knowledge of banking and my talks with leading bankers, whom, for reasons 
your lordship will understand, I rould scarrely produce here, that placing !l 
Government auditor in a bank, that is an individual bank, when there ic; no 
general law, is likely to cause a run. 

I am going to ask your' lord:"hip to do what Judges do under a rule that I 
have heard termed " a golden rule " and where there is a conflict of evidence 
that your lordship will bring to bear your own knowledge of affairs. What 
would be the probable effect in your lordship's judgment? I have not produced 
evidenre here from bankers, and Government counsel have not called bankers, 
I do not blame them; but the result · iE' there is before your lordship one sided 
evidence, and• I have not been represented in cross-examination,-my own fault 
of course, I blame no one. 

I am going to read to your lordship from a public document, the pro­
rerdings of the Select Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce of 
Wednesday, ::\fay 14, 1924; Mr. Edwards was giving evidence, and I was not 
there to cross-examine. He is speaking of inspection ,and audit by Ministers:-

" Q. If he exercises his. powrre now suddenly, would it not be 
injurious to any bank he might enter, unless you made it an obligatory and 
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regular inspection ?-A. Quite. Any exerciRe of these powers, in my 
judgment, would have to be applirable to all the banks so that there 
would be nothing con~piruous about the entire thing." 

That is what the Government witne 0
~ ~::i,ys before that Committee. Then he 

goes on;-
"Q. You think the Mini~ter rould1 not act under that ,,ertion unless he 

examined all the banks?-A. No, but I think it would be imprudent to 
exercise it i~ the case of one particular bank." 

Now you are getting good ::;cnsc from Mr. 1 Edwards. Then he speaks of the 
section under the new Art, not the Act of 1913, aµd the qu0;tioner ::;peaks of 
that and says;-

" Q. Then the section does not amount to very much?-A. Yes, 
because he can exercise his di~rretion in regard to all the banks." 

Section 56A was enlarged. in the revision of 1923, the Act under which I was 
acting was the Bank Act of 1913. He says:-

" Q. It makes the Minister examine all the banks when he only want;; 
to examine one?-A. Why f>hould he want to examine one? He ha-; a 
very good chance to examine them all." ("C.nder the new Art, as a 
regular. thing. 

He is pleading that you do not need an in-,pection syst£'m, that under the Act 
m, amended in 1923 you 1·an as a regular thing, and as they do, call for special 
reports from all the bank::;. . 

"Q. Because he ha-, evidence that one is not acting in good faith, or 
is acting wrongly, do you think he should examine all the banks?-A. I 
do not think that was the purpose of the subi::ection. I think the purpose 
was that there should be a general enquiry into all the banks along the 
lines suggested." 

Now during the period of the rorreRpondence with the ,vestern ,Directors I 
thought of an investigation by the Bankers Association, it was in my mind that 
that wa:i desirable, because of the lrn;;:;es which might result upon tho:-e three 
accounts which were specially drawn to my attention. I changed my mind in 
regard to .that. Now let us ron:-ider what would have happened, disrega.rding for 
the moment the question whether what would have happenetl was good or not, 
on the conditions before me. In the state of mind in which I then was would I 
have been justified upon full consideration in laying the fad:i before the Canadian 
Bankers Association? ·what is the eompo!'-ition of the Canadian Bankers 
Ai,~ociation? The General Managers of all the banks of Canada. Lay that 
before the Canadian Bankers As,ociation, and every General "\fanager or 
Executive in the first in::;tance of the principal banks are at once acquainted with 
the ~ituation of a rival bank. I do not think it is an over statement to say that 
facts like that laid before the Bankers A;;sociation would be on the street in a few 
houri'-. These banks are taking the exchange of this bank every day at domestic 
point:;, what would they do with n'gard to that exchange if the Minister refers 
a situation to them indic;:iting his view that the bank is in a weak or a somewhnt 
weak condition? The Bank Act makes no provision for reference to the Bankers 
Association. That was my own first idea, an<l I abandoned it because I believed 
its effect would be to pull the bank down, solvent, or insolvent, and at the time 
I thought it was solvent. If there is an obligation to be c:.treful to-day there 
was a triple obligation in 1916 to 1918. And that triple obligation was in the 
interest:; of the bank it1sclf, to say nothing of the general situation. 
' :-{ow your lord . .,hip I have put this down for concisenes'l, it reprcsPnt-, my 
view of the situation. I did not jettison the Home Bank in 1916-18, but 
in dealing with it I had to have regard to conditions as they were, and weigh 
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carefully and conscientiously the consJquences to the bank of a mistake on my 
part. The action I took wa1, in my discretion, in exercising his discretion a 
Minister must have regard to conditions, beeause conditons have a direct bearing 
upon tlte consequences _attendant on his .action to the_ bt:nk and the general 
situation. If you make a mistake in putting in an auditor, in peace time the 
consequences may be a run producing little effect upon the bank; if in war 
time, you may bring down the bank and in addition you may cause an unspeak­
able' calamity to the country. It is not that you deliberately do something 
contrary to your judgment, only you are much more anxious and careful that 
your judgment is sound. The discretion under 56A of the Bank Act of 1913 is 
a disrretion at any time, war or peace, the Bank Act applies to a time of war 
just as to a time of the most profound peace. It makes no difference how many 
things are on your mind, the discretion as to what to do is the Minister's and his 
only. I shall endeavour to prove to your lordship that I did. my full duty, I do 
,not elaim the war as a shield for any action or default on my part, my judg­
ment1 was honestly exercised, but in ronditions where the consequences of a mis­
take would have been most serious to the hank and to the public. 

As to what I did or what I did not do I must be judged by my state of 
mind at that time, what did I think about the situation, what did I honestly 
think? ij"ow my state of mind, and indeed the state of mind of Mr. Crerar 
and Mr. Lash, is shown in the letters, clearly and unmistakably. I did not 
suspect underlying fraud, no hone;:t man rould have suspected such fraud a~ 
has been disclosed. I would not like your lordship to think that I am for one 
moment saying that all the Directors of the Home Bank knew of this under­
lying condition of fraud. I could have had the bank taken 'over at any time 
by one or more of the banks if I had known the real situation, as opposed to 
the situation which was presented before me and as I saw it .. What was the 
state of mind of the Minister? Was it an hone,:t state of mind? How did he 
see the situation? Not what were the rC'al facts, disclosed· and undisclosed. 
The building the :Minister saw, the quirksand beneath it he did not see, it was 
hidden from him by fraud. The es--ence of fraud is· deceit. In a civil action 
I need not tell your lordship there must be wilful or reckless misrepresentation 
of material fact, and the party who i,; the victim of the fraud must be deceived. 
Hone~t men are continually deceived by fraud. You a~-;ume, and you have a 
right to assume, unless you• have positive evidence to the contrary, that the 
men with whom you are dealing are honc::;t and honourable men. I remember 
one of the great metaphors in literature, Dante in his Inferno pictures fraud 
as WC'aring the face of a just man. If fraud wore the face of a wicked man no 
one would be deceived. But fraud wears the face of a just man and consE­
quC'ntly is enabled to perpetrate fraud and deceit. There just fla:;hes througL 
my mind as I speak, reading in my early student days in An:;on a dirtum from 
Brian an old English judge, he said: 

0

" The devil hiqi::-elf knows not the mind 
of man." 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: ;, 'The devil him,:elf canpot try the heart of man." 

::3ir THOMAS WHITE: \Vell you can have it either v\ay as long as you get the 
devil into it. I have been called many names in my life by political opponents 
year:- ago, but they never ascribed to me all the attributes of his satanic maje:;ty, 
and I do not pretend to be nearly a" astute ,b he i,:. Yet Brian says that the 
devil himself knows not the mind of man. He is right. 

Now your lordship, the fault I have to find with coun:;el for the depositon:, 
-and also I think, and I am not censorious at all, with rounsel for the Gov­
ernment, is that in their examination of the rorre:-pondenre and the testimony 
of witnes;<eS they have been looking at the matter through a mirro:::rope, the 
picture they have painted and will paint to your lord,;hip is painted with a 
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camtl's hair bru:::h. I am ai:'ked: " ::-ir Thoma:-, did you con:'idcr the p:-yf•l10-
logical proces:=:es of the W1•~tern Directors? Thf'y :-hifted their ground onl'e, 
twice, thrice, surely that mu--t have made a def'p impre:,,-iun on you. _Did you 
call in a psycho-analyst for Mr. L:1,,h? \Ve allPge that he ,·hanged his mind 
in four days." 1"' there anybody in thi~ Court Room who never changed his 
mind? If he changed it honf':-tly it miglit be a very wi:'e tLing to du. Com1--el 
,ay: "Can we ref'oncile all the letter-, and all the paragraphs of the letter:-." in 
a changing. fluctuating, Rhiftin11; situation in which men are trying to do the 
right thing? The best evidence of the hone:oty of the tran~adion :~ that the 
letters arc a,; they are. "Did the :'.',,Jini:-ter's view vary?" Now yout: lord;:hip, 
lc·t u:- g1·.t away from thi:- camel'- hair bru,h painting hnd this micro-ropic 
examination and a"'k: ·what i:- the rffod of the rnrre':'pondell!'r as a whole? I 
submit to your lord::ship,-and I know I need not submit it,-that that i:5 the .. 
<'orrect way to look at honc::;t corre:-pondell!'e, not at the shifting and c-hanging 
pc,,ition from time to time but at the effect on the whole of that corref-pondenee. 

·what doP~ that corrc:;pondence ;;how? It :-how:- thne main ~tagu in the 
mental attitude of the Western Director:;• and of myself. The Western DirP<-turs, 
through their repr(':-entutive .J amP~ Fi1-her, laid before nk a complaint h:' te 
eertuin account~ and matters ron<'rrning the bank. They do nut a:-k for any 
inv1•>'tigation at that time. I ~ay I wil! dedine to accept your complaint as 
confidential, I must dPal with it offieially; and I at onrr take the matter up with 
thP Home Bank Board under ;-,rrtion 113 of the Bank Art. 

The second ,;tage is they say: We want an inn:,tigation of t'.ie bank'~ affairs, 
not limited to the three arcount'3. But I am. going to call your lordship'i;. atten­
tion to one curious thing that reeurs in their letters; they do not want an 
investigation by the Board as at pre::-~nt eonstituted, that is to r-ay :'.\Iw,on was 
the Prl'sident, they had no confiden('C in Mason. 

The third stage is that upon the hannonizing of the Board t.nder the Acting 
Prefoidency of Haney, Mr. Crerar rumes duwn to I >ttawa and tc1ls me that the 
condition of the bank is improved and that it is not neces~ary to have an out­
side investigation, that v--ith the Board re-establislwd and the confidence they 
have in Mr. Haney they do not want an outside inveRtigation by the :'.\1inister, 
they can handle things themselves~ 

Those are the three stages in their mind, and lest I should forget it, let me 
add this: supposing your lordship had been srated in my chair as Minister of 
Finanre, and three members of the Board came, reluctantly a~ I believe they 
did, but in purrnunce of what they rrµ;arded a-; their duty, and laid bf'fore you 
facts, so that ai- a result of that presentation thcc,:v be1·ame ~ubject to very 
.~evt>re critieism from the other members of their Board, would not your lord­
ship have a::-,-umed that at all evenh; thMr thrre mPH \Yere hom•,:t mrn? I did 
assume that, and it was not a diffieult as'sumption to make becau-e I had known 
those three men by repukttion. Thoi-e mrn were on the Board, on the in:side, 
they had, been taking up a multitude of matters that Ill\VPr came before me in 
any corre::-pondence, they were very murh better acquainted with that ,;ituation 
than I was, and when they through their represrntative, Mr. Crerar, a m~n who 
might have been a MiniRter, who was a Minister afterward an,l who may be a 
Minister in the future. When they come to me through that repre~entative 
and say: 1\ ow Sir Thomas, the condition of this bank is impro"ed and we ask 
you not to put in an auditor, whieh might have the effect of wrecking this bank, 
but give us a chance; and they pa:-s a re~ulution at a meeting at whif·h Crerar and 
Kennedy were pre~ent to the effect that in their belief the capital of the bank 
wa::i intact,-that cannot be euntroverted, I have a copy of the resolution and I 
think it is on the record; now was I to be a"tute to wreck the bank in the face 
of that requef-t on fhe part of the Western Diredor,.; who had originally brought 
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the matter to my attention? Was I to be keen, eager to wreck the bank? What 
was any sensible man to do situated in my chair, unleH he had lost confidence 

• in all mankind? I certainly had not, and have not to-day, and never will. , 
The \Ve-itern Directors were not i-atisfied with James l\fason and were not 

satisfied with Mr. Barnard, he was the only onr, of the Directors that they were 
dissati:,;fied with. Then they harmonized the Board, James Mason was side­
tracked altogether and replaced by Haney the strong men. Mr. Fisher says you 
rightly believe Haney is the strong man, Mr. Crerar believed in him, he bas 
sworn so. What is there on the record to the contrary except an inference six 
years after the event that he may have deceived the Minister, but what is there 
up to the time I acted? Mr. Machaffie made certain charges, I ,,ill come to that 
later, but what is there for the period from 1916 down•to 1918 to show any doubt 
whatever in the mind of anyone connected with the bank that Haney was not 
an honest, sincere man? On the contrary it was all the other way. Mr. Crerar 
testified to it, the letters show it. Mr. J~sh believed in Haney. I have been 
amazed since I came into this Court Room to hear the charges made against 
Mr. Haney. Is it not an amazing thing that during all that time when he was at 
the head of the bank no shareholder of the bank who knew him ,~ell should get 
up and '>ay: Why have you a man such as Mr. Lee described at the head of the 
bank? I wonder if Mr. Lee is not exerci:,;ing that retrospective imagination of 
which I have spoken. 

Mr. LEE: I was not a shareholder. 
Sir Tno:.-.1As WHITE: But you are stating now that Haney is a man worthy 

of no man's confidence, what I am saying is that all these people connected 
with the bank, the Western Directors, ~fr. Lash, all had confidence in Haney 
and there is nothing on the record that shows during that period, 1916 and 194.7, 
anything whatever against him; and I say, is it not an extraordinary thing that 
if his reputation was as Mr. Lee indicates now in the light of after events,. no 
shareholder at the meetings of the Board in 1916 and 1917, men who had known 
Haney for years, did not get up and tell the Rhareholders what ~fr. Lee so con­
fidently tells your lordship now? That is fair argument. 

Then I come to the three stages in my own mind. I called for a report 
under Section 113, as it was in my discretion to do, I ealled for a report from 
the Auditor of the bank under section 56A, as it was in my discretion to do. I 
said I would find out, ·and I got a report from the Board, notwithstanding that 
Mr. Lash did not want me to get it, I asked for a report from the Board, insisted 
on getting it and I got it. Also I got a report as from an accountant, the Auditor . 
of the bnnk, with regard to the Frost timber account about which the 'Western 
Members especially inqured. 

Now the second stage. In view of the second stage of the Western Direc­
tors' attitude, or because it occurred to myself, I cannot say which at this date, 
but the letters show that I did determine provisionally to lay the facts before 
the Canadian Bankers' Association. At this distance of time I cannot tell your 
lordship precisely what was in·my mind but I think it was this, that it was a 
question for a banker rather than for an auditor to tell me something as to the 
value of these accounts and pronounce generaUy upon the situation as to 
whether the bank should be allowed to continue in business. The things that 
were influencing me were, first the bank was in a weak condition but not suffici­
ently weak in my judgment to justify closing it up, that is on the information 

.before me. 
Now I shifted from that position by reason of the apprehension, which was 

shared apparently by Mr. Crerar and Mr. Lash and others and concurred in by 
myself on full reflection, that that might have a very serious effect upon the 
bank and bring it down, a bank that might be saved would be brought d6wn. 
That is the second stage. 

I ' 
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Now the third stage: Mr. Crerar comes down with Mr. La"h and writes 
me a letter, I will read that letter later on, in which he says: "The condition 
of the bank is good, we have re-organized the Board and ,ve can make this 
inYe<>tigution from the inside, you do not need to investigate ~rom the outside, 
and run this risk that we are all 1,1fraid of." Those were the three phases. 

Now I want your lordship to look at this correspondenee a-; a whole. That 
is the reason I mention the~e three stage::; in their mental attitude and in my 
mental attitude towards lhe bank. 

What was my policy at the time? It is stated in one of the letters, it was 
to give the reorganized Board a chance to put the bank on its feet and to carry 
on business, it it were possible in my judgment. I will quote that accurately. 
I am not going to weary yofi.r lordship by going over all these letters again, Jove 
would weary of the task. What did the ::\1.inister do? The petition says, merely 
referred the matter to ~Ir. Lash. Now I acquit entirely the depo-,itor,;' counsel 
of making any misrepresentation to their knowledge in saying that, that was 
ta.ken from a general interview which I gave when I had not the public file 
before me which shows that I had taken action under Sections 113 and 56A. I 
did not refer the matter to Mr. Lash at any time, but I did feel a very consider­
able measure of confidence in any statement made to me by Mr. Lash, who 
was one of the most reRpected men in the city of Toronto. Not a member of 
the Bar in Ontario will say a word against Z. A. Lash, there was no man who 
acted more frequently for all parties than Mr. Lash, there is not a man in this 
room but will bear honest testimony to that. It at once wrote James Mason, 
Exhibit No. 43, asking for a return under Section 113 of the Bank Act, and 
wrote a letter to the Auditor, Exhibit No. 46 under Section 56A, and in pur­
suapce of i;ny discretion afl Minister. 

I am going to call your lordship's attention especially to this paragraph in 
Mr. Fisher's letter of February 18, 1916;Exhibit No. 52. 

" It is true that my clients are most desirous to co-operate harmoni­
ously with Mr. Haney, whom Mr. La-,h, rightly as I think, regards as the 
strong man amongst the eastern members of the Board, and at the recent 
meetings I un<ler::;tan<l my clients gave evidence of such desire. But it 
was quite clear to me that they would not for a moment be content with 
an investigation to be conducted by the Board as at present constituted." 

' They would not be content for a moment with an investigation conducted 
by the Board as it wac, then constituted. You will find that running through 
their correspondence and I call your attention to it again. Then Mr. Fisher 
goes on to say:-

"I was to prepare a communication to be ,:ent to you, expre,:c,ing 
most strongly their desire that a special audit of the bank's affairs­
touching especially the large accounts in the Toronto office~should be 
directed by the Finance Department. These accounts would include 
especially the Frost, the Prudential and th,.e Barnard accounts." 

The next letter is Exhibit No. 53, appearing on page 83, from Mr. Fisher 
to me:-

"It will be wholly unsatisfactory to have an investigation made by 
the Board as at present constituted." 

The same expression is used. Then he goes on, page 84:-
"My client's anxiety, however, is about the handling of and dealing 

with, the prrscnt large accounts." 

The word "present" is underscored. I may have underscored it; I do not 
know. 

"And as to these _the fi~st. requisite, in their judgment, is to get at 
the actual facts, and m their Judgment this cannot be effectively done 
under an investigation by the present Board," 

• 
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Now what is suggested there? That none of these things can be done, in his 
opinion, under the present Board as constituted. Does he not infer that it 
might be done under a Board differently constituted? A Board in which they 
had confidence? Why does he repeatedly use the expression: "effectively 
under an investigation by the present Board"?, That is, before Mason is 
displaced. 

Now in my letter to Fisher I say:-
''My duty of course lies to the public, and in view of the serious 

charges which you have made, I feel I cannot allow the matter to 
remain in abeyance" . 

Now ml.Y policy, sir, to which I referred a little while ago; 
"At the same time it will and should be my policy to give the 

reorganized Board of Management every opportunity to place the 
a~ministration upon a sound- basis, provided that in my judgment this is 
possible." 

That appears in Exhibit 54 at page 86. I say that was my policy at the time 
and I say it was a wise policy and I stand by it. • · 

Then the reply of the Home Bank is dated February 22nd, 1916, Exhibit 
63, appearing at page 93. I shall not read that. It is the official reply of the 
Home Bank to my letter asking for information about those three accounts. 
It is long and goes quite extensively into the history of those accounts, and it 
seemed to me -at the time, as I think it would seem to anybody who did not 
believe he was dealing with men endeavouring to deceive him, to cover the 
ground very fully; and I say to your lordship that I relied on the good faith 
of the parties who were making this communication to me; and I repeat that 
if I had,doubted the good faith of all concerned, and suspected underlying 
dishonesty and fraud, I would have had the bank taken over; I would not have 
allowed it to fail during the war. I have already testified to that; and I still 
believe at this moment, as I believed then, and as Mr. Crerar believed then, 
and believes now, that with good management that bank could have been made 
to succeed. We do not wreck a bank because it has made a marginal loss on 
three or four accounts, even though they are large los::;es. As I have pointed 
out, the whole intention of the Act is not for the Minister to close a bank; he 
has not the power to close a bank. 

Now I want to read the Lash letter, Exhibit 70, or just an extraet from 
it, about half way do;wn the page. The letter is dated 14th February, 1916:-

"I was also glad to learn that at the Board meetings when the 
Winnipeg Directors were here, and after the natural acrimonious 
discussion took place, harmony was restored and the , Board became 
unanimous with respect to the proper treatment of the bank's affairs." 

This is Mr. Lash; not only a great lawyer, the man who drew the Bank Act 
originally, when he was Deputy Minister under the Hon. Edward Blake; not 
only a. great lawyer, but a banker, ,Vice President of a bank, and Counsel for 
the Bankers' Association for years, although not Counsel for them at the time 
of this letter. He says:-

"The Board became unanimous with respect to. the proper treatment 
of the bank's' affairs. This I think was largely due to the fact that Mr. 
Haney, one of the new Directors, convinced the Winnipeg Directors that 
he was in accord with them instead of being, as they had feared, in accord 
with the management. The other Directors followed Mr. Haney's lead 
and all are a unit with respect to (1) introducing new and efficient 
management; (2) getting to the· bottom of all important accounts and 
transactions of the bank; (3) going into no new accounts or important 
transactions until the permanent position is decided upon. In pursuance 
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of this policy Mr. Haney ha,:; been enga~ed in investigating such matters 
as can be dealt with in Tm:onto and as soon as po:-;sible he is going to 
the West to look into the lumber account out there and into the values, 
etc. The important account in Toronto is also being dealt with and 
further security is being got. Mr. Haney went to New Orleans and is 
able to speak intelligently as to values down there. He reports a 
1aubstantial equity, and if the bank is able to treat the situation in the 
only way in which I think it can be treated to save the bank lo::,s, that 
treatment will be given to it, but until we know whether the bank can 
continue and take up new business, the Position cannot be advanced 
much with respect to this particular account." 

That i::i what Mr. Lash says: that the Board is Larmonize«l and important steps 
taken. Then he deals more fully with the situation in his letter of the 29th:-

" Per:-ionally I have given up ho}'5e of being able to secure a com­
petent person who could undertake the grneral management, without 
first fully invest,igating the pMition. I have always thought that the 
investigation should be by an outside competent per::;on, who would be 
quite free from any interferencr hy the prc,,ent management or Board. The 
b~t courf'e may be to consult the Bankers' A~-,ociation with reference to 
the prrson who is, to make the invcstigat.io11." 

ThPn I wrote him on March 1st:-
" My view is that I should in the near future con,;ult the Pre,-ident 

of the Canadiun Bankers•' A~~oriation with rel"pect to the !dfairs uf tlll' 
bank. Plca::1e let me know when you expect Mr. Haney to return. It 
might be advi,-able to await his report upon the ::;ecurity )ield for thl' 
Frost account. In the meantime I feel free to lay the fal't-, before th 
Bankers' Association before his return should I deem· it exped,ient to do 
so." 

Then Mr. La8h writes me under date of Mard1 2nd, Exhibit 73: ::;aying he 
thinks it would be wise to wait Mr. Haney's return before speaking to the Prc::-i­
dent of the Bankers' Association, and he mys the application for :'.\1r. Pellatt's 
company was :;•ent to Ottawa ye,;terday. That is tu have further sceurity on 
the Pellatt account. . 

Then I come to Mr. Lash's letter of March 4th. Mr. Lafleur in hi-; cros,­
examination of me endeavoured to _establish the point th&t Mr. La8h had not 
changed his mind i that what he was saying ,vas, that the Board had certain 
views which he was presenting. :N"ow I may have misunderstood Mr. Lafleur 

,at the time, but I confess that annoyed me a little bit, and I was very ~orry 
for a little clash that we had. I am Irish, and therefore it did not take me 
very long to make it up afterwards, with an old friend. This is what Mr. La.,h 
said, at the foot of page 166:-

" If the Bankl'n,' A~-,oc;ution were a,;kcd to interfere, my experiem·e 
tells me that no matter what the pledge of confidence may be, and no 
matter how faithfully it may be kept by tho~e giving it, yet the situa­
tion would become public property in a very short time, by the whisper­
ings or talkings of others, including the bank's own staff. This would 
precipitate matters before we are ready to deal with them in the bP'-t 
interestti of the public, and it is that which I am specially anxious to 
avoid." 

Now that is Mr. Lash's opinion. He does not say that is the opinion of the 
Board, although it was, as a matter of fact; but it was also his, opinion. The 
point I am making is, that my learned friend cannot e:;tablish that Mr. Lash . 

,, 
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was not giving his :-incere view en March 4th; and that has been corroborated 
by Mr. Crerar's evidence, in his· examination by Mr. Lafleur. At page 425 of 
the record Mr. Lafleur says:-

" Q. Was he reflecting the opinion of the Directors as far as you 
could judge, or was he giving his own opinion? '' 

And Mr. Crerar's answer is:-
" Oh, Mr. Lash held that view at that time, rightly or wrongly he 

believed it, that is thq impression I got." 

Then he goes on to say later on, at page 427 of the record:-
,, The Eastern Directors, including 1\Ir. Haney, undoubtedly held 

that view. Mr. Lash expressed that view to us privately. I do not 
rernll that he did in the meeting, but at any rate the view was expressed 
then very forcibly by the:::e gentlemen that if there wa,::. an outside exam­
ination uf the bank',; affairs they could not keep that information off 
the street, that you might have a run or would have a run on the bank 
and it would be forced to close its doors." 

That is Mr. Crerar's opinion. He said:-

" I have a very clear recollection that Mr. Lm:h impres-sed upon me 
the danger that might come from an outside examination of the bank's 
affairs." 

Mr. Lash's own opinion; on the way down to Ottawa Mr. Lash impres::;ed 
him with that. Now I have looked t)irough that letter and through his evidence 
aud Mr. Crerar has sworn four times that that was Mr. Lac;;h's opinion. It 
reminds ~ne of Alice in Wonderland. Alice says, " If I tell you three times, ' 
it is true." Here is a man who became Minister of the Crown afterwards,• a man 
of unquestioned honesty

1 
who swears it four times. 

Now Exhibit 79 at page 169 is a personal letter of March 20th, 1916, and 
in it Mr. Lash says:-

,, I am in a much more hopeful frame of mind as to the future of the 
bank." 

And here is what he tells me is going to be done:-

"Gcneral Mason and his son will have leave of absence till a better 
detailed knowledge of the position is ·obtained. Mr. Haney was appointed 
Vice President with the de facto position of President. He will make 
the ,affairs of the bank the first rharge on his time, till it is in a per­
manent position one way or the other and will if nece::sary devote all 
his time. He will accept no remuneration until it is seen that the bank 
can afford it and then he will take what the shareholders may decide. 
Mr. Machaffie in. whom Mr. Haney and Mr. Crerar have great con­
fidence, will corhe to Toronto at once, he has been wired for, to as-;ist 
Mr. Haney in investigating the general position and Mr. Hainey will 
employ such outside assistance as may be required. Mr. Mach.<tffie i" 
an old bank manager and was trained in thfl Merchants' Bank and 
B. B. N. A. He has been with the Home Bank about seven years I 
think and most of the time in Winnipeg. The Pellatt securities have 
been approved and will be executed to-day. This will make his account 
quite safe I think. The Board desire an opportunity of going on with 
the business, strengthening other accounts and straightening out tangles 
and it was with that in view that we came here to-day in order to 
explain the whole position to you and to ask you to give them thic; 

79392-2 
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opportunity, by refraining for a while longer from asking the Bankers' 
Association or other out--idc authority to interfere." 

"I w-:mld like Mr. Crerar to be present with me when I see you in 
order that he may assure you, as he has asrnred me, that he is quite 
1-,utisfied now, and that Mr. Haney has tf1e full confidence of the Winni­
prg Directors. His appointment as V. P. wa" unanimous at the Board 
meeting, two of the three Winnipeg Directors being present. I feel 

· quite sati-;fied myself that the public· interest will be served by the 
opportunity a~ked for being given, and if you will kindly give us au 
appointment for some day next ,verk, towards the end of the week, we 
will come here or meet yuu in Toronto and give full information and 
such undertaking;,; as you desire that the general position will not be 
changed to the detriment of depositors." 

Now what about "gullibility," a word u:,;ed here e1e other day? Mr. Crerar 
and his fellow Directors from Winnipeg the hone;;t eastern mPmben, of the 
Board, and Mr. La:,;h, all have ,-trong confidence in Mr. Haney. Mr. Lee, 
exerci~ing the rrtrosprctive imagination, says that no one ·who knew him could 
place any confidenee in Mr. Haney. Where is that on the record? It is in 
the retrospective imagination. What did l\lr. Crerar say? Mr. Crerar became 
a colleague of mine later on and he is a man for whom I have the very hip:best 
respect, and for whom I had a high rr,:pect r,t that time. This, is his letter. (Ex. 
:No. 81, pagr 171, 20 March, 1916.) 

"You will have learned from Mr. Lash of our visit to Ottawa to-day 
to discus,; bank matters with you, and our failure to see you through 
your absence from the city. You will al,o have learned of the change 
made at the recent meeting of the Board held in Toronto a few days 
ago, whereby the active management of affairs is placed in entirely new 
hands through Mr. Haney taking the Vice Presidency, and assuming 
direct executive control, with Mr. Machaffie, the Manager in Winnipeg, 
whom, for the time being at lrast, he is bringing to Toronto to assi:,.t 
him. By this arrangement I feel quite certain that the knowledge and 
information concerning the po,aition of affairs desired by the Western 
members of the Board and al-o t.\,c changes they desired when they 
directed their requrst to you, :rnd which they saw no hope of securing 
through the then existing management"-the same phase which runs 
through Fisher's letter-"can now be sati-;factorily o'btained without • 
calling in out-;ide assistance. In my opinion, the situation ha" materi-
ally improved with the pa,-t month, and, at this juncture, with the 
changes in management recently made, it is better to have the inquiry 
proceed from within rather than from without. Owing to the possibility • 
of tny being unable to attend a suggested conference with you next 
week, I am giving this letter to Mr. LaRh i-o that he may placr it before 
you. I may add that Mr. Kennedy, with whom I have discussed the 
views herein expressed, is in agreement with them. Mr. Peri;'3e, the other 
Western Director, is in· the south, and so we have been unable to con-
sult him. I feel, however, that were he here he would be in agreement 
with us." -

Now what would your lordship do if you got that communication from Mr. 
Crernr? You being in my position. I jm;t leave that with your lordship. 

Then I write l\Ir. Crerar that I am glad to have his views re!opecting these 
matter.s and especially his assurance that the situation has been materially 
improved within the past month. 

Then we come to Ex. 83, page 172, in which Mr. Lash writes me officially. 
I may say to your lordship-it does not ario:~ here, because I certainly would 
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not have raised the question-I have very great doubts as to whether any of 
those private letters should have been produced by me even here, although I 
probably would have got the consent of the Governor-in-Council or His Excel­
lency, and I do not know then whether I could have produced them under the 
authorities-but I put them in, and I am glad to put them in; I quoted the 
authorities the other day that private letters even though relating exclusively 
to State affairs are not to be produced; they are excluded from ·the rule. Then 
Mr. Lash mys in this mo::,t important letter Exhibit 83 after reciting what I 
have mentioned, "the following changes have been made." Something has 
been done now; not in contemplation . 

"General Mason has been given leave of absence, and he is now 
conducting the affairs of th~ bank." 

The man in whom they had no confidence is out, ·and the man in whom 
they had confidence, is in. 

"The Vice Pre:,ident, Mr. Flynn, resigned, and Mr. M. J. Haney 
was appointed· Vice President in his stead, with the understanding that 
he should discharge the duties of President, and have plenary powers 
with respect to the organization of the staff. Mr. Haney has agreed 
to make the buc,iness of the bank the first cp.arge upon his time, until the 
situation has been definitely ascertained, and the organization com­
pleted, and if necessary, he will devote his whole time to this work. Mr. 
Machaffie, Manager of the Winnipeg branch, has been brought to Tor­
onto to act as Mr. Haney's chief al:'sistant. Mr. Machaffie is regarded 
as one of the ablest officers in the employment of the bank." 

"He is in no way re'5ponsible for the general management in the 
past, and he has managed the business in Winnipeg satisfactorily. He 
has been with the Home Bank six or seven years. My firm have been 
appointed the general solicitors of the bank, and I have agreed to act 
as General Counsel, and give per:::onal attention to the more important 
questions which are now on hand, and whic-h may ari;-;e in the course 
of the reorganization. Mr. Haney was a Director of the bank some 
years ago, but has had no connection with it for several years past. 
He joined the Board a few months ago, becau:;e it was represented to 
him that his assistance, as a Director, would be of value in directing 
the affairs of the bank, which he understood required special attention." 

They had had several month-; experience of Mr. Haney on the Board. 
"He is interested as a stockholder, but he feels that his greatest 

interest is in helping to bring the bank through its present difficult 
position, and to avert the public disaster which would ensue were it 
compelled, for any reason which might be aYoided, to close its doors. 
Mr. Haney has many personal friends who are very desirous that the 
bank should be maintained, and their wish that he should become a 
member of the Board and do what he could in its interests, had much 
influence on his decision to assume the position. You were made 
acquainted, in general terms, with the reasons which induced Mr. Crerar, 
Mr. Kennedy and Mr. Persse to send Mr. Fisher to you. Some of those 
reasons were the reimlt of misunderstanding on their part especially with 
respect to the attitude which it was thought Mr. Haney would assume. 
This misunderstanding has been cleared up, and at the Board meeting, 
when Mr. Haney was made Vice-President, Mr. Cre"rar and Mr. Kennedy 
were present, the appointment was unamimous, I handed you yesterday a 
letter from Mr. Crerar supporting the request which I made to you on 

79392-2½ 
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behalf of the Board, and I may now state without he::1itation, that Mr. 
Hanry and the three Winnipeg Dirertors arl' in entire acrord, I believe 
the whole Board is now in aceord. I mention the Winnipeg Directors 
and Mr. Haney specially, on account of their position, and the under­
standing with the Board that the important affairs of the bank will be 
under their guidance. 

"One of the fir:,:t thin~s whirh l\fr. Haney did after he was appointed 
Direetor was to go to New Orleans with a view of investigating the 
prn,ition down there, in order to form an opinion as to the security held 
by the bank in eonnection with one of the arrounts regarding which you 
called for special returns. Mr. Haney formed an opinion that by proper 
managPment, a substantial part of the value of that security eould be 
maintained, but the situation is not an 'ea-;y one, and requir<>,; careful 
awl tactful treatment. In addition to gomg to :New Orleans, Mr. Haney 
went to Briti"h C'olumbi.1, acl·ompanied by :VIr. Crerar, for the purpo"e 
of investigating the securities held by the bank in connection with another 
of thP accounts regarding which you called for the special returns. Mr. 
Haney and Mr. Crerar both came to the conclusion that the SPr.urity 
held by the bank showed a fair margin in value over the amount of the 
bank's claim. Here again the position is complicnted, and requires 
e:lreful and tactful management in orde{' that the values of the securities 
may be realized without sacrifice." 

I think I put in a copy of the resolution of the Board of Directors con­
taining the report of 1\fcssrs. Haney and Crerar. They said that the account 
was amply secured and that the security could be realized in from three to 
five years. At that time there ·was the greatest demand for timber pro­
bably in the history of the world. Certainly in the history of modern times 
and even in the hi,;tory of the world. Timber was wanted for the war and had 
never been used on such a scale before. He goes on to say: 

"The Board unanimously rnncluded that they should endeavour, 
by all reasonable mean~ within their powN, to improve the position 
of the bank, so that it might be able to go on in ordinary course, and 
the Board expre:-sed the opinion unanimously that if a proper oppor­
tunity were given to do what was necessary to bring about the result 
indicated, they would be able to ::;ucceed." 

Now I ask your lordship if in the face of that letter, the unanimous 
opinion of that Board, of Mr. Crerar and his two Western co-Directors, and 
Mr. Lash, and the Eastern Directors, men like Mr. O'Brien, and I don't know 
whether Mr. Russell wa-:,; on then or not. 

Mr. LEE: O'Brien was not. He did not attend meetings. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: You sJ.y that, but one would think tlie Mini:;ter was 

expected to attend these meetings to see how many attend. 
Mr. LEE: Pardon me, I am speaking of the record. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I do not think it is in evidence on the record. I 

say supposing that in the face of that letter, in which they all say that if 'a 
proper opportunity were given to do what was neces::;ary to bring about the 
result indicated, they would be able to succeed, and having before me at the 
same time the assurance that Haney and Crerar believed there would be no 
loss on the Frost account, and that Haney had come back from New Orleam; 
and pronounced that the New Orleans matter might be pulled through, or :mb­
stantially so, 'and they had also the liability of the Prudential Trust Company 
by way of guarantee-I say, if I had wrecked the bank at that time, what 

• 
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would tl;tey have said as to my judgment or discretion? Why there would 
have gone up a cry to high heaven against the Minister of Finance, who in 
the face of that report would dare to close the Home Bank of Canada~ they 
would have said I was in league with the big interests; and I am very much 
mistaken if Mr. Lee, at that time had di:,cus5ed these matters, that he would not 
have cried to high heaven against the injustice of my action in the face of 
Mr. Crerar's report, Mr. Crerar, who afterwards became one of my colleagues, 
and Mr. Haney's report. A great deal would have been said about the 
practical man's judgment as oppos~d to that of a theoretical man like the 
Minister of Finance. 

I think it would have been said that I had gone out of my mind if I had 
closed the bank in the face of that letter. · 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: Is not this retrospective imagination? 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: No, it is. not. If in the face of that letter and in 

view of the statements I have made, I had wrecked the Home Bank, I am very 
much surprised if a cry would not have gone out that it was the most 
sacrilegious thing that had been done since the time of Martin Luther. 

He goes on to say, ., 

"A thorough investigation will be made under the direction of 
Mr. Haney and Mr. Machaffie." 

Let me give you more of it, my lord. 

" The Board is of the opinion that the result of this investigation 
will show that the capital of the bank is intact, and that no loss will 
be suffered by any of its depositors or creditors, provided that it is not 

compelled, by a run of depositor;;, to close its doors." 
Here is ,a Board with honest men on it, unanimously of the opinion that 

the investigation that they will make will show that the capital is intact and 
that no loss will be suffered provided it is not compelled, by a run of depositors, 
to close its doors. If I had closed the bank and they had published that com­
munication what would these gentlemen have said? 

'' The Board feels strongly that if they are allowed to conduct this 
investigation from the inside, instead of having it conducted by someone 
sent in at the instam:e of the Finance Department or the Canadian 
Bankers' Association, nothing will happen which would cause a run by 
depositors, but that if the investigation be conducted at the instance of 
any outside authority, the chance:, are that statements will be made, 
and thing5 will be said about the bank, which will cause a run, and 
which will force the bank to close its doors. This opinion is not based 
upon any want of confidence in anyone who may be sent, or upon 
any fear that ,mch person would himself disclose the confidence entrusted 
to him, but experience has shown " 

This is Mr. Lash speaking, 

"that no person can be sent from the outside to investigate the affairs 
of a bank, without its becoming known sooner or later that he has been 
sent from the outside. This probably results from i:ome unguarded, 
innocent remark, made by some member of the bank's own staff." 

Then he goes on to say: 
"My firm is now engaged in completing arrangements for perfecting 

securities in certain instances where they are regarded as defective, and 
are investigating ot~er securities to see if they are in proper form. This 
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work will take time hut will not be negleetcd. "Kegotiation..; are in pro­
gress, under ~Ir. Haney's dirertions, for the realization of a very import­
ant ;,rcurity rrbting to one of the accounts regarding which you called for 
special returns. ~Ir. Haney is hopeful that +hese negotiations will result 
satisfactorily." 

"I think it will be evident to you that all the-se matters which I have 
referred to and which still require attention, can be better att<'nd1·rl to 
under the direction-; of the present Board than under the direction of 
a curator or liquidator, in fact it would be impo,..sible for a curator or a 
liquidator to bring any of them to a successful termination." 

What would they havr "aid about the good will of the bank if I had wrecked 
it? What is it worth? ·what would be the c-osts of liquidation, hundreds of 
thousands of dollars in addition to the value of the goodwill. Should a l\Iini-,ter 
of Finance be a'-tute to wreck a bank? Or "houlcl he be conservative, to save 
a bank? Unles"' he is aboolutely po:.-itive that that bank should not be allowrd 
to go on. Then on pa'."(e 175: 

"You informed us that, you had given much thought to the position of 
the Home Bank since Mr. Fisher had called upon you in reference thereto, 
thit the public interest must at all times be your guide in any dcr.i,-,ion 
which you mi1.d1t come to. and that in viPw of the statcmrnt..:- ma1:P to 
you by Mr. Haney and my:;elf, and of the statrments in a letter which I 
Ltnded you, from Mr. Crerar, you thought it would be in the publir 
interc.st to comply with our request, and t 11at you would do so for the 
ve•sent, always rr, rrving to yourself the fullest, right to take any step at 
any time, which vou might think the publie interrst callrd for." 

I was dealing with Mr. Lash at arm.,;' length. Dealing at arm.-;' length 
doc:J not mean that you think a man is not hone-,t, when you have known him all 
your life, to be honest, anrl when everyone else kn0ws him to have bern hone;-;t. 

Now I wish to draw your lord.-:hip's attention to tl1is faf't. The evidencr of 
the Hon. Mr. Crerar abrnlutrly sub,tantiatrs my evidence a:- to this period. Mr. 
Crerar was in a very much better po"ition, bl'ing on the in,:de, to know the situa­
tion, than I was. I could only look at it through the letters that were sent to me. 
Mr. Crerar had been a clirrdor for years, and rn he should have been-and so far 
as I wac; concerned, hr: wa". in rny view-intimately connrctcrl with the affairs of 
the bank. Suppo,;e Mr. Crerar had heen l\Enister of Finance at that time, in 
!916; and ~uppose l\fr. Lafleur had asked "'.\fr. Crcrar in the box hrre this qur"­
tion: "Mr. Crerar, if you had been in Sir Thomas \Yhit.e's place, in view of the 
evidence you have given would you have clo:-rd up the bank?" How could Mr. 
Crerar an:-:wer anythinp: else than Ko, in tht' face of his letter to me. 

:Now I am going to ask your lorcbhip to do, what I know you will do without 
my asking it: to con:,ider that letter with unusual rare. What would your lord­
ship think if you knew those men as I have statrd I knew them and had brrn 
seated in my chair at the time when T wrote the final letter with regard to the 
1916 ,;fage? What would your lorclf'hip have clone, having rPg;r1rd to what has 
been disclosed to you of the condition., prevailing at that time? That is the 
question. 

Now before I leave this matter let me ,ay to your lordship that I did not 
regard the Home Bank situation as a good one. I have endeavoured to he 
very frank, a-; I was bound to be, in my testimony, and as I am trying to be 
now in my statement. I did not regard the situation of the Home Bank a-;; a 
good one at all. I did not like these arcount". I thought there might be very 
considerable marginal lossPR. upon certain of these accounts. I have said so. 
I thought they were imprudent loans made at some time in the past and carried 
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along, but I did not think on the evidence disclosed to me and on the statements 
made to me, that there would be such los.,es on those as to wipe out the 
capital of the bank; especially when the Directors assured me that in tMir 
opinion the capital was intact. 

But ~r. Lee says: 

"Sir Thomas, did you have the timber limits valued? Surely you 
would get a real estate expert to go and value the Pellatt property?" 
Where is the authority under the Act for that? 

Supposing the matter had come up in Parliament next year, and I had been 
called pefore the Public Accounts Committee and asked: "Sir Thomas White, 
what is this item, paying real estate experts for valuing Pellatt i:iecurities in 
Toronto, of the Home Bank?" You have only to state the situation to see 
the absurdity of it. It is no part of the duty of the Minister of Finance to 
employ experts to value the securities of customers of bank. There is no 
appropriation for that purpose. Or should I pay the money out of my own 
pocket? And wou.ld it be an expedient or a wise thing to do, to spread on 
the records of Parliament and give currency through debates in Parliament to 
the fact that Sir Thomas White had spent large ,:urns of money for cruisers 
to inspect the Western timber limits because he was afraid the Home, Bank 
might make a los;;; on it. Or to value real estate belonging to Sir Henry Pellatt 
in Toronto. What would they have liaid in Parliament? I do not know. Your 
lordsfiip can guc:-'- just as well as I ean. I wanted to save the Home Bank 
if possible. That was my policy. 

~ ow let us look at the last mentioned account. Sir Henry Pellatt's father 
established a large brokerage business in Toronto; one of tlie prinDipal brokerage 
busine,:scs there. t:lir Henry Pellatt succeeded his father and built upon the 
foundation laid by his father one of the largest brokerage businesses in the 
Dominion of Canada; and ever since I can remember-and my memory goes 
back for thirty years-Sir Henry Pellatt has borrowed from banks and from 
financial institutions and ha:; met his obligations. When I was General Man­
ager of the National Trust Company, I loaned Sir Henry Pellatt money upon 
securities; they were more liquid than the;,e securities. They were securities 
listed on the Stock Exchange. We never sustained a cent of loss and had no 
apprehension about the man's credit. Sir Henry was reputed to be a very 
wealthy man. A man who builds a million dollar house, in the minds of the 
public is presumably a man who is well to do. My friends may get auditors to 
come here, exercising the retrospective imaginatiol)., and say: 

''I really would not have passed that loan of Pellatt's." And yet those 
same men have passed loans to Pellatt without questioning his standing in 
Toronto. Their retrospective imagination is like that of the doctor who appears 
at the autopsy and after he sees the results of it, he says: ""\Vhy of course that 
was cancer, and if I had been the doctor in attendance I would have known 
it was cancer." That is all that these men are doing and I think is is no 
wonder that I get indignant with them. Auditors coming in and telling what 
they would have done, and they as 1:1uditors were pas"ing the same man's 
loans with their banks right along. They were not c-ross-examined as to that. 
Mr. Clarkson wa-=; not cross-~xamined as to whether he had ever had anything 
to do with Sir Henry Pellatt's loans. Mr. Edwards was not cross-examined 
as to whether he ever· was in any institution or has audited a bank in which 
he has raised any question as to the credit of Sir Henry Pellatt. It was not 
done. I did not think they would lose anything on the Pellatt loans. I had no 
reason to think so. 

Now we come to Frost account. The security is timber limit'3. And 
timber limits may be ·worth immern,e sums of money." I believe, sir, that those 
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Fro1c-,t timber limits are very valuable limib, but a good deal is going to depend 
on the way they are handled. I have done i::ome liquidation in my life; I 
h!i.ve liquidated many eompunies; and I rny a good deal will depend on how 
these iimits are handled. If you put thrm up at auction and say we will 
sell to the nighebt bidder, I do not know what you will get. But if th(•y are 
handled properly, they are very valuable limits, as I believe, and large sums 
may be realized for them. · • 

And then whut is all this objection raised here as against me, that you 
must not in any way relate the pre:oent situation in New Orleans to the past. 
They ,:iay: "Sir Thomas, at tl)e time you were dealing with• this, it is perfectly 
clear that the Kew Orleans account was bad." But if on top of that arrount, 
and growing out of it, they acquired and colleeted, as Mr. Lash said they would, 
an amount that is going to clear them, as Mr. Clarkson apparently indicates, 
why does that rii::e. up in judgment against me? Bankers continually build 
one account upon the foundation of another account and if the result comes out 
all right and there is no loss are you going to blame the Minister, who knew 
about the first situation in a general way? 

I think if your lordship gives an assumption that there are heu.-vy losses 
on the Frost acwunt and on the New OrleaI1;5 account your lordship may· go 
very far wrong. I mean on the evidence, I would not :-ay your lordship's judg­
ment would be wrong, but on the evidence because I think the evidrme is not 
complete. 

Then the Barnard account. l\Ir. McLaughlin said to me: "Sir Thomas, 
didn't you notice that there were loan-, made upon the security of Home Bank 
stock when the Home Bank took oYer the Banque Internationale"? Yes, I 
noticed that. I do not reeall it as a matter of memory but it was in the docu­
ments. 

The point I desire to call your lordship's attention to is this: It was a fact, 
it is not something they were going to do, it is something that was done. What 
are you going to do with these Home Bank shares, throw them in the lake? 
They were held through trustees-I am speaking from memory now-Barnard 
and Pellatt, trustees for the Banque Internationale, but supposing they had 
held them in trust for the Home Bank, and the matter was done in connection 
with the acquisition of the Banque Internationale, what are you going to do with 
these shares? You cannot make the purchasers take them back who sold them 
to brokers without knowing they were selling to banks. 
. I happened to be looking into ,a matter similar to this some time ago. \ 
Incidentally, a company in the cour~e of its busine,:s acquired 1-ome of its own 
stock At once you will say it could not acquire its own ,;tock, but that stock 
was held for them. I looked up the purchase, and found out at that time that in • 
a situation like this, although it would have been ultra vires for the company 
to buy the stock, still, the stock was held there for its benefit, and that the 
thing to do is to realize on it, and, of t:ourse, that is common sense. The Home 
Bank took over the Banque Internationale, and among the as:oets were the 
stocks of the Home Bank. The ,.;tock was there at a value, and it should have 
been sold, and the proceed-, applird in the reduction of the loan. I looked at 
it in a common seme wav. 

The next thing I come to is Mr. Haney's letter to me, Exhibit, 86. This is 
a letter also that I wish to draw your lordship's ,:pr'C'ial attention to, a,:suming 
that I had eonfidcnce, a" I did, in Mr. Haney, in whom we all had confidrnce. 
Now, this is a report. I as,:ume that they are going ahead, administering and 
looking into the affairs of the bank, and, as they said improving it with a view 
to carrying it on as a solvent in-;titution. It is dated June 14th, 1916, a sort of 
interim report of what they are doing, and if ever there was a letter going into 
particulars, important purticulars, with the utmost detail, it is that letter, and 
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if that letter was false to the knowledge of Haney then all that I have said with 
regard to Dante's description of fraud ·applies: 

I 

"Srn:-Refc>rring to the letter of March 23rd last from Mr. Z. A. 
Lash to your,-elf which al,:o bears my signature in concurrence. Mr. 
Lash promised that you would be kept informed from time to time as 
to the progress being made. In the ab::ience of Mr. Lash from the city, 
this report may now be i

1

n order from me. 
For convenience' oake the three accounts regarding which you asked 

for special information may be styled, ''the Toronto matter," "the New 
Orleans matter" and "the British Columbia matter." 

In the Toronto matter the additional securitirs mentioned in Mr·. 
Lash's letter have now been put into shape; our customer is paying 
interest in ca:ih quarterly, and, while much of the debt may have to be 
carried until the termination of the ·war, it is, in the opinion of the 
Board, reastmably certain that no loss will accrue to the Bank. 

In the New Orleans matter, progre~s has bPen made by obtaining 
control of an equity which I am safofied will yield a substantial sum 
in reduction of the debt, and, therefore, greatly facilitate liquidation 
of the whole account. 

In the British, Columbia matter, negotiations meJ,1tioned by Mr. 
Lash are still pending; we have also been approached by other partiee 
regarding the largest item, and prices mentioned are considerably in 
excess of the value placed upon it in our books. • . 

On May 26th and 27th a full Board meeting was held and was 
marked by complete harmony throughout all doubtful accounts were 
discw;scd, and appropriations for losses made; the aggregate of these 
appropriations, together with a considerable sum for good measure, is 
being transferred from Rest account. A definite policy was decided 
upon which will substantially increase our earning power. 

In conclusion, I would add that much has been done to increase the 
proportion of immediately available assets; mercantile advances have 
been got in and quite heavy investt:nents made in Government bond!3 
and this policy will continue." 

Supposing your lord:,hip had believed in that man's honesty and he wrote 
you that letter, what would you do? ·would you say ''.I am going to wrerk 
that bank?" If I had done that what would they have ~aid? What would 
the publi"c have said, what would Parliament have ,.:aid on that letter? 

Your lordRhip, I now come to the Machaffie letters. In August of 1918 
:Vir. Machaffie sent me a letter. I may say to your lordship there has been 
some talk of delay in getting an official report from the Board. I·went West 
in SrptC'mber. I had been engaged during the greater part of August. and part 
of September, in preparation for the great Victory Loan opened in 1918, the 
greatest Victory Loan that we floated, over $700,000,000. Nobody except the 
man who had to do ~ith it has any conception of the enormous amount of work 
involved behind the scenes in connection with a loan of that kind, the calling 
of representatives of the lPading brokers in Canada to discu1::.o terms, to give 
the directions for the prospectu,:: and for the bonds, and the dealing with the 
vrry numerous a5sociations. with the smoothing out of difficultie~ which arose, 
all those things that the public know nothing about imposed a very heavy duty 
upon the Minister, and, as I say, in September I went west . .,I opened my 
campaign in Winnipeg by a speech to the people of Manitoba upon the Victory 
Loan, and asking their support. I went to Brandon, Sa~katoon, Regina, and to 
Vancouver, and back to Calgary, back again to Winnipeg, and then to Mont­
real, just getting to Montre:11 a little before the Armistice. At all points I was 
exceedingly busy day and night, receiving deputations about matters in which 
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they were intcre:a;ted, dealing with +.he Victory Loan commit.tC'cc; and advising 
them a::1 to the best method of pushing thPir c::mpaign, and yet I am acrused 
hcre of having debycd two months in getting the amwer to the :\1achaffie 
letter. 

I sometimes wonder i{ 'wme of the people of this country remember tht!re 
W:.t::1 a war, I really do. I got this lrtter from Mac:~iaffie, and I say to your 
lordc;hip that such letters are frequently receiYed in the Finance Department, 
and I think your lurd-,hip has the power, if you have any doubt whatever-• 
I am sure you have not--a-, to my statement, but I suggest that you :,ee the 
Mini:,tcr, and he will tell you, and nine out of ten of them are based upon a 
quarrel or pure spite. 

Now, thi:i letter. came to hand and I treated it :::eriou:,ly. I will not ::,ay 
that there did not cro:::s my mind, as there docs in the mind of every Minister 
who gets a letter of that kind, ·"Ju;:;t what is this man driving at?" It is an 
unu::1ual letter to get. It iR thought there is a great deal of public spirit in 
Canada wr.ereby people will readily ,nitC' a l\Iini;:;ter and register a letter in 
discharge of what they. regard as thC'ir public dutv with regard to making 
charges against other people, firms, companies, or bank:-, but there is not. :Most 
people who write letters of that kind have axe.;; to grind. However, I treated 
J\fr. Machaffies lett<'f seriously, and I called for a report from the Board, as 
it was in my discretion to do under 113 of the Act, and your lord:;hip will find 
if you will look over the record-; of the Finance Department, or con"ult any 
Ministn who has ever al'ted in the capacity of Minister, that that is tl-e 
c·our:,e which is followed with rC'garcl to lettc>r,- of that kinrl. A Minister doe-s 
not take the letter that comes in from someone because it is rcgistf;rrri, I do not 
care who the man is, and at once dash, like a bull into a- china shop, into a 
bank. He write;:; to the Board and he ~avs "Hrre is a letter that I have received. 
what about it?" And he hears the Board, he assumes the Board is honeo;t, a~ 
I did. I assumed that this Bo·:trd wa,- honest. He wants to hear what the 
Board has to say about this lettC'r that a man has writfrn to the Minister, a 
very unu,mal occurrence, and I got back, in time, a letter to which I will draw 
your lordship's attention a little later, from ~fr. Haney. :Not his letter only but 
a letter certified by him as President, as being the unanimous report of the 
Board of Directors of the Home Bank, a letter representing the unanimous 
report after com:iderrri amrndment'l by the Board of Directors of the Home 
Bank of Canada. 

I had intendrd, your lord,,.hip, to sprak about Mr. ::\Iachaffie's cro:-~-cxamina­
tion, but as I was not in this room and rnnsequrnt 1y r-0uld not, as coun::,el, deter­
mine the effect which it might have made on your lord,-hip's mind, I am·going to 
rdn:in, but sometime-, the art of crotls-examination consists in not rru,-,;-examin­
ing unduly. Somrtimes an arn,wer will light up the mind of a Judge a:-1 a fla,:h of 
lightening illuminates the landsrnpe, and coum,d ,-ays "That is enough, I am not 
going any further with this cro:-1R-examination." I am not going to critirbe :\fr. 
Machaffie to your lordship. On!) rC'ason why a man who has been Mini::lter finds it 
difficult to be roun,,:cl, exeept in his own case, is that he has known so many people 
in his life, he has brcn friends to hundreds of thousands of people who have come 
to him one way or another, con,;equently he doc:- not like cros:,-examination. lw 
doc:'i not like to engage in war at the Bar, he is at a disadvantage on account of his 
experience as Minister, that is, if he is a man of a certain type, if he is a sympa­
thetic man. 

Now, what did your lordship think-I am just going to put it rhetorically­
of Mr. Machaffie's eYidcnce, when he produced the letter, Exhibit 135, dated Feb­
ruary 25th, 1918, when, as a matter of fact, I was in California? This is the 
lettei;: 

"Dear Sir Thoma-:: \Vhen I la:-t had the pleasure of an interview with 
you information was asked regarding three accounts on our boob." 

• 
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Now, :Mr. Machaffie said in his evidence, ac, I under:-tood it, that he had one 
interview with me. 

1\fr. LEE: Two, not on Home Bank matters. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: Yes, not on Home Bank matters: 

"When I last had the pleasure of an interview with you information 
was asked regarding three accounts on our books." 

Is that right? If he never talked to me on Home Bank affairs, what does 
this mean? Hmvever, he never talked to me on Home Bank affairs. Here is his 
letter, but it did not come to me. 

Mr. LE-E: I think that was admitted. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: Well, if it is udmitted then that is good. 
The letter continues: 

"Sir Henry M. Pellatt. 
New Orlean" ~trert Railway Matter. 
A. C. Frost (B.C. Timber matter). 
I told you what I could." 

When did he tell me what hr could when he has sworn that he saw me upon 
one or two occasions and Homr Bank aff-airs were not mentioned? He says in 
this letter, when I was in California, that he did discu~s those matters with me. 
He raise.;; the question in this way, that he addresses this imaginary letter, this 
letter that never was sent to me, but whi<.;h he used with the Board, or that Mr. 
lfaney saw. He 6aid: 

"I told you what I could. As f.ourtcm months have elapsed since then 
a further report may now be considered in order." 

I never asked him for a report. 

"8ir Henry M. Pellatt: 
I have nothing new to report except that Pellatt busied himself in a 

canvass among our Directors to prevent a change in General Management. 

"New Orleans MattLr:' 
I advised you that a sum, approximately $230,000 was advanced to 

acquire an equity in a link of railway in which the Bank had no direct 
interest; it was expected that a bond i,:rne would be floated and the 
Bank reimbursed. This expectation has not been realized. The large 
amount mentioned in the report to you of two years ago remains in a 
position of grave jeopardy. 

A. C. Frost: 
Since reported to you this account has been again written up some 

$200,000 for interest. I cannot let this opportunity pass without point­
ing out that the aggrer.;ate amount written up in this account if added to 
the amount of Home Bank stock carried by the Bank would account for 
the greater bulk, if not the whole of the Bank's capital, while, as you have 
been advised, there are numerous other accounts in a precarious position. 

Mr. Haney, the President, has also been appointed Chief Executive 
Officer, and a$ such is practically a Dictator. I have endeavoured to 
have an inspection system installed, and wrote Mr. Haney on the subject 
on the 13th inst., and now enclose a copy of that letter for your further 
information. · 

:Mr. Haney's policy. is to endeavour to rehabilitate the Bank by a 
series of speculative ventures, chiefly in steamship activities. While 
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withholding comment on this policy I cannot refrain from offering criti­
cism of the methods in use. Briefly stated, the Bank furnishes large 
sums of money without security, and is to recPive but a moiety of the 
expected profit,-, the bulk of such profits going to Haney, C. A. Barnard, 
another Director, and F. J. Stewart, a personal friend. 

Mr. Barnard has a liability to the Bank' of some $260,000 in con­
nection with Home Bank stock, but ncitl}er he nor Haney are per­
sonally re,:;ponsible to the bank for these fresh advances." 

Now, he is asked "Is this your letter?" And the answer is "Yes". 
"Q. That letter was never sent to Sir Thomas White?-A. No. 
Q. To whom wa'l it sent?-A. To Mr. Haney. 
Q. Why did you not send it to Sir Thoma,; White?-A. There were 

several rea~on,,. The most t,Crious statement in that letter was based 
on hearsay so far as I was concerned. I felt that to make that state­
ment to the minister was a very serious matter; it was also a very serious 
matter not to make it if it were true. I thought it good tactics at 
the time to put it before the Board in that manner, to invite di'lcussion. 
Doing so could do no pm;,:;ible harm and it might do some good. 

Q. It would be in the bank's interc--t?-A. It could do no harm 
anyway. There was another rea.;:on why I did not smd it; I had pre­
viou-,ly conveyed atl I thought praetically the same information to Sir 
Thomas White verbally through his half-brother, and I had reason to 
believe that it had reached him." 

I never discus,;ed Home Bank at any time with my half-brother. The 
thing is absurd. Fancy a man w_ho wants a communication to go to the 
Minister to take such a roundabout method of communication through his half­
brother. Was such a thing ever heard of in a Court of law, where a com­
munication is to be addressed to a Minister of the Crown. 

"Q. As to the condition of the bank?-A. Yes." 
, Well, now, what does your lordship think of it? I am not going to comment 
on it. What is the purpose of it, e;;pecially in the light of what happened after­
wards, what was the purpose of that letter? Why did he write me the letter 
in August, 1918? 

He is telling now about the letter from Oakville that he had sent me. 
He says, in ansv. er to Mr. Lee: 

"A. When the Annual Statement came out in July, 1918, I saw that 
J. Cooper Mason was appointed General Manager, and Mr. 8ydney 
Jones re-elected t,hareholders' auditor; and Mr. Gough remained as Vice­
President of the bank. I had a very distinct ret'ollcetion of the 
m,'luranrcs which Gough had given me a few months previously, and I 
felt greatly disturbed." 

Bear in mind, your lordship, that the Board of the bank in its unanimous 
resolution, which was SPnt to me· a little later, mid that he wanted to be 
General Manager of the bank. 

Now, this is :\-Ir. Lafleur's cross-examination. In every work of art there 
is an artistic touch, and it comes in in the next que;:tion: 

Mr. LAFLEl'R: You mean the af'>Juranre that thrrc would be a trained 
banker?-A. A trained banker and a chartered arrountant. I did not 
want to take any further steps at that time, as I was clear of it all; 
but I wa., much disturbed, and finally wrote that letter to the Minister. 
I might say that had my letter to the Minister had the effect which I 
thought it would have, of clo:oing the bank's doors, that I would have 
been a heavy loser." 

• 
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1 Here is a man -who is so conrerned, charged with his duty to the public, 
that notwithstanding he is confident that as soon as his letter gets to the 
Minister the Minister is going to close the doors of the bank and he will be a 
heavy lo::;er, he nevertheless sends that letter. · 

Now, what did he '3ay? Just let us te,:t that. He says, in answer to the 
question before, still on page 401: 

" I had a very distinct recollrction of the as:ciurances which Gough 
had given me a few months previously, and I felt greatly disturbed. 

Mr. LAFLEUR: You mean the assuranre that there would be a 
trained banker'?-A. A trained banker and chartered acrountant." 

Now, what does that mean? Suppose that inc;tead of Cooper Mason being 
appointed General Manager that he had been appointed General Manager, or 
some other banker had been appointed General Manager, would he have written 
the kttcr in view of what he says? Why did he want a trained banker and 
chartered accountant put in if he thought that the letter would have the effect 
of at once closing the doors of the bank, and therefore he would lm,e his 
money if the bank was clo,sed '? Is there rnme retroactive imagination in that or 
not? Mr. Lee sympathetically-that is not in here: 

"You would have been a heavy loser?-A. Yes. 
Q. That is after the Minister had received your letter, and had he 

acted on it by closing the bank's doors, you would have been a loser? 
-A. Had they failed they could not have paid me the amount they were 
under agreement .to pay." 

I am using this man's own evidence, I am making no statements about it. 
Now, then, here is the culminating touch: 

" Q. So that you took a good deal of risk in writing that letter.?­
A.-A big risk to me at that time. 

Q. And the reasons of course you have told us were that after the 
meeting of the shareholders in May of 1918 and Mr. Gough had been 
elected V1ce-Pre;,ident, and Mr. Sydney Jones had been continued on 
as the shareholders' auditor, and' Mr . .J. Cooper Mason having been 
elected as General Manager-A. Appoint.~d not elected. 

Q. And Mr. Gough's suggestions had not been carried out to you 
you felt it was a duty that you owed ?-A. A' public duty. 

Q. And you consequently wrote the letter to Sir Thomas White?­
A. Yes. 

Q. Did Sir Thomas get your letter?-A. He acknowledged it." 

Now your lordship, I call your attention to Exhibit 146, in which Mr. 
Machaffie withdraws that letter, that letter which he did not send me and which 
he addressed to Mr. Haney. I will not read it all, beeause I have' no doubt it 
has been referred to several times. He says, in part: 

" I have since satisfied myself that for various reasons, including 
my absence from meetings of the Board of the Bank since January, 
1917 _,, 

Your l~rdship will note that this is dated May 1st, 1918. 
" the information and assumptions on which the draft letter of February 
25, 1918, was based, were in some respects inaccurate and in others 
incomplete, apd that the draft letter, if sent, would have conveyed a 
wrong impression as to the position of the Bank, and the conduct of 
its affairs. lJnd~r the circumstances- I am glad. that no letter wa, 
forwarded by me to the Minister and I ·am pleased to know that the 
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poi::ition of the Bank in respect of the various matters with which the 
draft letter dealt is substantially diiierent from and better than the 
draft would"indicate." 

He says that on J\Iay l "3t, and he writes me this letter in August. By the 
way when did he leave the bank? 

Mr. LEE: March. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: He left in March, and he has not been in the bank 

since March, and he writes this letter on May 1st. \ 
Now, your lordi::hip, it has been said that if I had acted on Machaffie's 

statements and not believed the unanimous report of the Board I would have 
found a great many things, and I think tliat is rnrrect, subject to this one 
qualification, that the fir::-t thing the Board would have done would be to show 
me Machaffie'., letters. They offered to show me them. He wanted to be 
General Manager. 

Supposing you had acted on the Machaffie letter, your lordship, and you 
had p;one to the President and the Board and said '' What alfout this ::\1achaffie 
letter'?" They would have said '' there is the correspondenee, look at it." 
The man leaves in March. Six clays before he has written a fictitious 
letter to me as Minister of Finance in which he makes various state­
ments. On May 1st, 1918, he then writes that lett,er in comideration of a 
:;ettlement, he mys, of his salary, some salary claim he had. And then on 
August 18th he writes me this letter. 

I wonder if you would have gone any further than that, and having the 
statement which the Board gave me? But I am not going to put my case on 
that Basis. I am going to put my cam on the ground that the unanimous 
answer of the Board was a sufficient reply to Mr. Machaffie, at lca:;t, I will 
put it on that as well as on the other. I want to get before your lordship all 
that is in my mind, including the suspicion aroused by the statement given, 
and looking at those letters. He want.:; to be General :Manager. Lai:;h told me 
that he had quarrelled with the Board, and, above all, the character of the 
report which they sent in to me. 

I will rnme a little later on to what Machaffie, who wa,, examined as a 
banker, had to say about putting in an auditor. I wi11 not deal with that now. 

At page 405, Mr. Lafleur a-,h.s this question: 
"Q. What distinction do you make between conveying rnch serious 

charges based on hearsay by letter, and conveying the same information t 
to the Mini-;ter verbally through another person? I do not 1:,ee what 
distinction you make there." 

Then he say;;;, in answer to Mr. Lafleur: 
"A. They were unjrn,tified in this respect, that I had not the personal 

information. They were not based on my personal information." 

As to the retraction, Mr. Lafleur says: 
"Q. Am I to infer that that retraction was really extracted from 

you ?-A. Ye,,, ubsolutely. 
Q. I thought that,is wha.t you would tell me." 

Mr. LAFLEUR: "Extorted," I think that should be. 
'Sir THOMAS WHITE: "Q. Am I to infer that that retraction was 

really extorted from you ?-A. Yes, absolutely. 
Q. I thought that is what you would tell me.-A. My solicitor 

thought it was worded in a way which justified me in sending it. 
Q. And he thought he could not get a settlement of what you con­

sidered to be your legitimate claim against the bank for salary unless 
you complied with that demand ?-A. That is it." 
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That is all I am going to my about that. 
Now, I come to the answer of Mr. ~fachaffie. I want the reply of the 

Board. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: Page 182, Exhibit 96. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: Thank you, Mr. Symington. I am going to a~k 

your lordship's special .attention upon certain assumptions. This is the letter in re,,pect of l\fr. Machaffie's allegations, and the first thing I de::;ire your 
lordship to note is that this is not Mr. Haney's letter. This is the report to the Minister of Finance, certified, of course, by Mr. Haney, to be sent to the Minister on behalf of the Board, and this, report, after consideration of amend­ments, was unanimously adopted by the Board in the form following, and the Prc~ident was instructrd to forward a ropy of this report to Mr. Lash, with imtructions to have same forwarded to the Minister. So that, your lorde-hip, it is not a que,;tion now for my learned friend, Mr. Lee, to say "Wl'll. wh)· did 
you rely upon Mr. Haney at all?" This is the unanimous report of the Board of Directors of the Home Bank of Canada. I do not know how manv were present, but this is the unanimou.,-; report of the Directors in answer "to my official communication for a reply to Mr. Machaffie's charges. I am not going to read it all, it has been read, I suppose, a good many time!3. I will read certain paragraphs of it: 

"The Board fee]<, that no good purpose would be served by entering into Mr. Ma:chaffie's reasons for interfering.in this Bank's affairs. The 
papers and eorre,-,pondence with, and' relating to Mr. Machaffie, and to 
tlte claims which he made against, the Bank berause he was not appointed General Manager .as he expected to be, are open for the inspection of, 
the Minister, ~hould he wieh to see them. They will probably afford 
the reason for Mr. ~fachaffie's present action which the Board thinks is not impartial or actuated by consideration for the public interests." 

I did not look at that correspondence at that time. I surmised it to be something like it is. 
"As the Ministn of Finanre seems to have placed more reliance upon• Mr. Machaffie's letter and statements than the Board thinks they are worthy of, and to remoYe the wron~ impression which that letter 

has evidently created, and on account of the importance of the matter, 
the Board feel that a reference to the position of the Bank as directed and managed two and a half years ago, and to its present position, is called for." I 

Then it goes on and recite:; what I have already told your lordship, that the Board was reorganized, that ).fr. Haney had been placed in charge, Mr. Lash made counsel, Blake, Lash & Ca"'Sels, Solieitors. Then it recites what I have states this morning as to the opinion of the Board, a:; to an inYestigation. 
"The Board did not then, and docs not now fear the fullest in­

vestigation, but they do fear the consequence to the Bank, its cm,tomers 
and the public, which would result from an investigation ordered by the Minister through the Bankers' Association or otherwise." 

This also was a period of the war. The Armistice came in November. No one thought it w~mld come in ~ovcmbcr. The best military opinion in England was that the war would go over until the next year, but the Armistice came suddenly. At this time the war was in a very critical stage. Britain and her Allies were getting into a position to drive the Germans back. In March and April of that year they feared for the Channel ports, and for Paris. The 
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Germans were endeavouring to drive a wedge betwern the French and British 

armies and cut them off, driving the Brifr,h bark on the Channrl and the North 

Sea. 
I spoke of asrnmptiorn; supposing you were of the opinion that that Board 

wa::; an honegt Board, as I was, would you have paid any attention to that or 

not? I think your lordship would. Then they f.ay that notwithi;;tanding the 

possibility of these comcquenrrs they would ~ubmit and afford all agsistance 

pos"ible. Then he gors on to ::;ay that he has consulted with Mr. Lash, and 

ht· takes up tlH'H' three al"count,S which were particularly in my mind, whirh 

had been drawn to my attrntion and which I liad enquired about and would 

naturally be de,,;irous of knowing something furthrr about. There was: 

"(1) A large account hrld at th<' Winnipeg office. 
(2) A large acrount held at the Toronto offi< e. 
(3) A large account, the ;ccurity fnr which was timber lands and 

limits in British Columbia. 
( 4) A largr account held at the Toronto office in connedion with 

certain undertakings in N cw Orleans. 
The Board of Directors have gone c'.lrefully into all the bank's 

affairs." 

That is the Board which under Scrtion 19 of the Bank Act of 1913 is to 

deal with it-; bm,iness and affairs,-- · 

"Committres of the Board visited the places where the interest of 

the bank were greatest, and personally made themselves familiar with 

the positio_ns. ::\Ir. Haney and Mr. Barnard went_ to New Orleans and 

obtained full information of the situation there, and came to the con­

clusions as to the way it should be treated. Mr. Haney went to Manitoba 

and to British Columbia. In the latter place the timber lands and limit::,, 

in which the bank is intrre,:ted, were examined and information re­

specting them and the general conditi'ons in the Province was obtained." 

Then he sums up; 
"Account No. 1 has been fully liquidated." 

I "think that is the account Mr. ]\foH,tffie referred to, I mu not sure. 

• "Security for aePount No. 2 was taken and in the opinion of the 

Director::, the balance thereof is now fully secured. The account ha,:; bem 

reduced by $284,091.27 of capital and all interest ha::; been paid." 

That is the Pellatt account. I admit that gives the impression that they Lave 

maintained the security and reduced the loan, but even supposing they merely 

made Pellatt take out the speculative security, Dominion Iron & Steel, to that 

extent, at all events the loan is reduced. The steel stock might go down, whrn 

I made ca'.l loan~ I used frequently to insir-t on the loan being reduced and the 

collateral takn out, beaU'-C a situation develops in which you want high-claRs 

instead of other collateral nevertheless the impression they gave me there was 

not that the Dominion Steel had been taken out, but that they hdd the security 

and the loan was reduced. 
"With reference to account No. 3 with the information obtained in 

BritiRh Columbia, the Board's judgment wa::; that there was ample security 

in the timber lands and Emits for the claims of the bank, and since that 

time the value of the security has increased. The selling price of log::; in 

British Columbia (confirmed by actual transactions) have been as 

follows:-
In 1916, $8.85 per thousand feet. 
In 1917, $12.12 per thow,and feet. 
In 1918, ~17.00 per thousand feet." 
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Under the revision of last year the Board is made the final judge as to the 
value of security; the Auditor calils attention to a security, says; ''l think that 
should be clarnificd as: inactive, "but there is provision in the Act that the Board 
may overrule, they represent the shareholders, they are prcrnmed to be acting in 
good faith, and the Minister has no right to suppose that a Board which is sub­
ject to the severest penalitics for a false return will make a dishonest return. That 
is what the sanction in the Act is for now. Then he goes on to say:-

"Spruce is now being cut for the Imperial Munitions Board, from one 
part of thc:-c limits, at a price netting $6 per thousand for No. 1, and 
$2.50 per thousand for No. 2." 

r' am not going to weary your lordship reading the rest, it is all optimistic, 
confident as to that account. He sums up:- • 

"The Directors feel confident that no los., will be sustained by the 
bank in connection with the account secured by the,se limits." 

Here is the situation; the Winnipeg account cleared up, the Pellatt account 
reduced and interest paid up, .and the Frost timber account, "The Bo3rd is of 

.. opinion that there will be no loss." Then the New Orleans situation, he describes 
that, says that the Directors went to ~cw Orlean:5 and the whole situation was 
organized upon a new basis, efficient management installed, the undertaking 
put into good repair and condition. Mr. Barnard, one of the Directors has per­
sonally given much time and attention to this matter and has frequently visited 
New Orleans in connection with it. The results have been satil"factory. The net 
operating profit, which, for the first twelve months ending December 31st, 1916, 
amounted to $27,319.34 now amounts to more than $7,000 monthly, the net 
income from operation for the month of July, 1918, was $7,500. The gross revenue 
for September 1916 was $11,349.03; for September 1917, $14,936.75; and for Sep­
tember 1918, $18,094.86. And he says this improvement has not resultd from 
abnormal causes but is the result of improved condition of the properties, careful 
management and the general advance in business conditions which the Board feels 
::-ure will be continued. 

"The securities held by the bank haYe been greatly strengthened and 
improved, and the Board is confident-that no loss will result to the bank in 
connection with this account. 

The inference to be" drawn from Mr. Machaffie's statements, with refer­
ence to dividends paid by the bank seems to be that these diYidends were 
paid out of capital and not out of profits. This statement, or inference, 
is unfounded. No dividends have been paid out of capital, and the profits 
of the bank, actually earned, have been amply s'ufficient to warrant the 
payment of the dividends which have been declared." 

Then they go on as to the continuation of the dividend, and of course if the 
net profits were sufficient to warrant the payment of the dividend it is within the 
power of the Directors and would be a wise policy for them to continue paying 
the dividend. Now I draw your lordship's attention to this statement of net 
profits, that influenced me I believe, from memory, quite as much as anything 
else, if not more because it would lap up so much. The mere fact that for a 
year they had taken in interest on the Frost timber account, contrary to what ~fr. 
Lash had promised, was not alone sufficient to counteract a statement of this 
kind. Look what they say: -

79392-3 

· "The net profits for 1917 · were 
The dividend for 1917 was .. 
The net profits for 1918 were 
The dividend for 1918 was . . . . 

$217,059.57 
97,327.06 

228,963.19 
97,362.40" 



u 

766 ROY AL CO}.,JMISSION 

Net profits two and a half times the dividend, a leeway of $120,000. 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: Which was less than the Frost interest: 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: That may be, suppose it was. Put the thing as 
strongly against myself as I can; are they going to start to wreck the bank? 
''No unpai<;l interest upon account No. 3 or other inactive accounts wa'> rredited 
to profits since the 31st May, 1917, the end of the bank's fiscal year 1916-17." 
Yet on their ::;tatement for 1918, although no interest was taken in on the 
Frost timber account, they had net earnings two and a half times the amount 
of the dividend. 

Then he goes on to say that Mr. Machaffie's ::;tatements in regard to the 
British Columbia shipbuilding enterprise are unfounded. He says: 

"The bank made certain advances in 1917 to Mr. J. F. M. Stewart, 
collaterally secured at all times by good security. The tran'5action 
was one of ordinary banking business. Mr. Stewart alone was quite 
responsible for the advance. The indebtedness was liquidated in full 
prior to December 31st, 1917, T+ie transaction wa'> a profitable one to 
the bank. The papers and account-, connected with it are open to the 
inspection of the Minister at any time." · 

Then he goes on to traverse all his other statements. What does he say 
about Sidney Jones? 

"Thi::; gentleman is a man of the highest reputation and ability. 
For the past :,;eventeen years he has been, and still is, Bursar of Trinity 
College and Auditor for other institutions. His name is included in the 
list of persons :,;elected by the General Managers of Banks under Section 
56 of the Bank Act, deemed by them to be competent and eligible to 
be appointed Auditor under the provisions of the Act, and he was not 
di-;approved of by the Minister under the provisions of the Act. He 
was duly appointed by the shareholders at the Annual Meeting. No in­
formation required by him in pursuance of his duties as shareholders' 
auditor ha,, ever been withheld, and he has been most careful and even 
exacting in obtaining information for the purposes of his audit." 

Sidney H. Jones was on tJhe panel, how could I prevent the bank electing 
him Auditor, and I had no rea:,;on to attempt to prevent them; he was a quali­
fied man under the Art. 

Then he goes on to show the growth of the bank. 

"On May 31st, 1916, the total deposit<; of the bank, not 
ineluding Dominion-Government deposits, amounted 
to ................................ $10,133,785 

The deposits on May 31st, 1918 . . . . . . 15,682,750 
The gold and legal tender notes on 31st May, 1916, 

amounted to . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
On 31st May, 1918; they amounted to ........... . 
The liquid assets on 31st May, 1916, amounted to ... . 
On 31st May, 1918, they amounted to .. 
The total assets on 31st May, 1916, were . . . . . . . . 
On 31st May, 1918, they were . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

2,816,573 
3,252,464 
6,773,797 

11,073,182 
15,562,032 
23,?75, 773" 

Now your lordship, fancy the fine earning power, from assets as large as that, 
deposits of that magnitude. There was an enormous goodwill in connection 
with that bank. It had the confidence of the Roman Catholic community,-' 
and I am only referring to that Church because what J state is correct,-it had 
deposits from thousands belonging to other denominations, but it had a very 
fine earning power from that section of its depositors, it had a clientele on 
which it could count and rely, and in a situation like that· the earning power 
of a bank is very great if it is properly managed. 

... 
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Then it goes on to tell ·_about the gentlemen who had been on the Board. 
As to Mr. Barnard, the orily thing on the record against him is what was 
suggested about some commission in connection with the Banque Internationale 
purchase, and supposing there was one man on the ;Board 'who had had to do with the acquisition of Home Bank stock in connection with the Banque 
Internationale, what power had I to put him off? 

Then R. P. Gough, Pre::;ident of the Sellers-Gough Fur Company, his 
position as a business man in Toronto is well known. He---' 

" was asked to join the Board to assist and advise the bank on various 
commercial matters. His position as a business man in Canada is well 
known. He has devoted much personal time to the affairs of the bank, 
and has been of great assistance." 

Why should I not believe that? Mr. Gough is a man of excellent stand­
ing in the Toronto business ~orrimunity, he was regarded as a man ot such integrity and ability that the Government appointed him a Director on the 
Board of the National Railways. I do not know a thing against Mr. Gough, I never heard anyone suggest a word against him, yet they say " Sir Thomas, why did you rely on what these men told you?" As far as Mr. Gough is 
concerned, they might as ,vell ask me would I rely on what any of these counsel tell me. And this is a unanimous report of this Board. 

"Mr. Ambrose O'Brien, Manager of M. J. O'Brien Company, lJimited 
was asked to join the Board because he was a young and active man whose 
business interests are closely associat~d with the development now being_ 
carried on in Canada. He has been, and will continue to be, of great 
s·ervice to the bank." 

Mr. LEE: He did not remain very long. 
. Sir THOMAS WHITE: Nothing here to show he didn't. What was the state of mind of the Minister at the time? Not a, word against Mr. O'Brien, 

and I know nothing against him, his name there create~ a certa_in confidence 
in my, mind with those other names, and have every right to. 

Now we come to Mr. Daly. 
"Mr. H. J. Daly, Vice-President of the National Cash Register 

Company, and General Manager for Canada, was elected a Director in . !' order that the bank might receive the benefit of his great experience and 
system, his knowledge as a business expert and successful manufacturer. 
His appointment has been very beneficial to the bank." 

I want to say there are scores and hundreds of' the best bus,iness men in Ontario who absolutely believed in the integrity and ability of H. J. Daly. I might go into that witness box and tell your lordship of ecomiums pro­
nounced upon him l;>y some of the leading financiers of this country. Down here he wa'5 appointed by the Dominion Government as an expert in organiza­tion in connection with one of the establishments, I forget which-

Mr. SYMINGTON': The Department of Soldiers' Civil Re-establishment. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I never heard a thing against Mr. Daly's character and I heard much to his ability, there was not a thing on the record against him up to this moment. 
Now, Senator Macdonell, through his Parliamentary and other duties and the state of his health was not able to give much time to the bank's affairs so · Mr. S. Casey Wood, of the firm of Rowell, Reid, Wood & Wright, one of 'the leading law firms of Toronto, was asked to join the Board bO that the legal aspects 

of matters coming before the Board might be properly guided and dis:cussed. "The wisdom of selecting Mr. Wood has been fully justified." 
79392-3½ 
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Now your lordship, any man may be deceived, fraud implie-- deceit, wilful 
or reckle::,s misrepre:-entation, believed in by the pttrty deceived. I do not sny 
for one moment that every member of that Board was a party to m11king 
wilful misrepresentations to me, no man could ever make me believe that. But 
that there was fraud some place, and dishonesty, when~ I do not know, there is 
absolutely no doubt whatsoever. 

:'..\fr. Lrn: We agree there. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Now your lordship in judging we must say what was 
before the Minister, what did he think of these men whose unanimous report he 
got, as against Mr. Machaffie's letter. I had no more reason to distrust the men 
who~P names I have mentioned and who were notified to me as being on that 
Board, than I v, ouid have to doubt the word of any Board of Bank Directors in 
the Dominion of Canada. In other words I had no reason at all. 

.. Now after thi,, letter I follow
1

erl the matter up. On October 31st, 1918, 
after I had come back I think from thi, Victory Loan Campaign; I thanh.ed Mr. 
Lash for this letter and asked for certain supplementary information; 

"Copies of the bank's ledger entrie:o, showing in detail all advances 
made, interest added from time to time, any payments in reduction o.f 
principal, and full particulars of security now held." 

Then I go on to state that the Board's report that no unpaid interest upon 
account No. 3 or other inactive accounts has been credited to profits since 
May 31st, 1917, seemed to imply that for many years interest had bee~ added 
to principal, and that such added interest is therefore now represented as part 
of the bank's capital. , And I mrntioned the note circulation being deprndrnt 
on the capital, and that this raised a serious question whether the capital 
and rcserve oi the bank should be written down accordingly. It was not in 
my mind at that time that the bank should close, but if as a matter of fact, a 
situation was disclo::;rd in which the capital and reserve was impaired, although it 
is a serious ~tep to take because it shocks public confidence, yet tlrey should 
consider the advisability of writing it down. 

I then asked for a stat.emrnt showing how much capital and 1reserve is 
represented by interest added to the principal of the three account,;; in question 
and any other where the. principal lonned has exrreded $250,000, and I got 
the information later no from Mr. Lash, he wrote me going over all this again, 
about the two members of the Board going to British Columbia and E1e state­
ment that that account was fully ::,ecured. (Exhibit No. 105). That as to the 
New Orleans account, the whole position was reorganized and turned into a 
going concern which is realizing profits:-

"Which I .am told are sufficient to cover the interest, but, to 
strengthen the position, the profits l'Xcept $25,000 remitted to the bank, 
as mentioned in the memo, were allowed to be used in betterments and 
improvements. The bank expects a payment soon on account of interest, 
and no arrears will further accumulate. The Ptudential Company is 
still indebted to the bank in the amount of the original advance and 
interest and its liability forms part of the bank's security, but, owing 
to the position of the Prudential Company, it was not thought advisable 
in the interests of the bank to proceed against it until the position was 
further advanced. I am instructed that the Board of the bank is con­
vinced that outside of the liability 'of the Prudential Company the securi­
ties now held will realize for the bank the full amount of its claim, leaving 
the liability of the Prudential to the good." 

Then he traverses Mr. Machaffie's statement that Mr. Lash is not being 
consulted, Mr. Lash himself makes the statement that he has been consulted 

I 
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from time to time in regard to these accounts and has given to the bank his 
considered judgment and advice. And he says:-

"I am convinced that very sincere efforts on the part of the Board 
and management have been made ·during the past three years to improve 
the position of the Bank, ·and my opinion is that these efforts have been 
so far sucessful, and that the Bank's position has been greatly improved, 
and I see no reason to think that the effort will not be continued or that 
the position will not continue to improve. I feel that the conclusion 
which you arrive at, to allow the new management to make these efforts, • 
was a wise one in the public interest, and I feel -equally sure that a con­
tinuance of this attitude on your part will be further justified by the 
result." 

Now your lordship, I will be prepared to pledge my oath that Mr. Lash 
meant every word he said in that letter. Z. A. Lash was incapable of de­
liticrntely misleading" any human being. 

~ow I just acknowledged Mr. Lash's ,letter on January 29th, telling him 
that if there was anything further I wanted I would communicate with h1m. 
That closes the evid~ce with respect to my period in office. 

After I left office, which was August 1st, 1919, I understand Mr. Daly 
ousted Mr. Haney from the Presidency, there was something given in evidence 
as to obtaining proxies and buying stock. The financial community believed 
that the bank was doing well under his Presidency. Mr. Daly organized a 
Bond Department in connection with the bank, I remember hearing that it was 
doing well, and I had heard, as I testified, that Mr. Daly had put his money 
into the bank, I suppose that must have meant that he had bought the Grain 
Growers' stock; at any rate the impression of the financial community was: 
Here is a good man in this bank, he has organized a Bond Department, has 
put his own money in, and he is making money, it is going to get on. That was 
the-.opinion of bankers in Toronto, I am not giving my own opinion, I. did not 
discus':\ it with all but I did discuss it with some. The dividends were increased 
a couple of times after I went out, the Annual Meetings were held and good 
statements put out. Now was there any duty on me after I left office to do 
anything in view of the situation? I was not the Minister-

Mr. LEE: The depositors' coum;el are not char~ing you with anything . 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I thank you for that and I appreciate it. Neverthe­

less I wrote Sir Henry Dr~yton, I always like a little plus in what I do,­
cn.lling his• attention to those three accounts. I want your lordship to observe 
that letter of January 20th, I said "I think you had better look into these three 
accounts," or rather I told my Secretary to draw them to his attention. Now 
supposing I had h.ad suspicions as to the underlying situation, which I have 
sworn I had not, would I have stopped at those three accounts? The three 
accounts were the only things that were in my mind, right straight through. 
I simply said: " Draw those three accounts, or draw this file to Sir Henry 
Drayton's attention." Then afterward when Sir Henry wrote me,-I am a little 
confused, a little tired,-when Sir Henry wrote me as to the Superintendent 
of Insurance I called his attention to the three accounts, and told him to send 
for Mr. Daly. There was nothing ehe in my mind except what I told him. 

Now just one other thing.before one o'clock-
Mr. LAFLEUR: Take all the time you want, 'Sir Thomas. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: No, just this, le,;t I forget it. No word during 1916 

and 1917 from the Western Directors, from Mr. Crerar who was a Director of 
the Bank until the end of 1917, no word changing or modifying in any way 
their request, apparently they were satisfied. 

(Adjourned at 1 p.m: until 2.30 p.m. on Monday, J9th May, 1924). 
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AFTERNOON SESSION 

OTTAWA, ONT., MONDAY 19TH MAY, 1924. 

Proceedings resumed at 2.30 p.m 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: (Continuing his argument): My lord, I wish to deal 
briefly with some matters which my learned friend Mr. Lafleur raised with 
respect to the question of putting an auditor into an individual bank under our 
present law, which does not provide for the regular inspection of banks. The ron­
tention put forward by my learned friend when I was under cross-examination, 
If I properly understood it, was that that was frequently done with no serious 
consequences; and there was instanced, either by himself or by Mr. Mc Laughlin, 
the case of the Banque Nationale. 

Mr. LAFLEUR: That wa,;, by Mr. MeLaughlin. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Mv learned friend informs me that it was Mr. Mac­
Laughlin who instanced the· case of the Banque N ationale. I understood ip 
was suggeRted that an auditor had been put in the Banque.Nationale. Now Mr. 
Edwards in his testimony before the Banking and Commerce Committee, said 
that he had heard of the condition of the Banque Nationale, by rumour. Mr. 
Edwards has been employed by the Department of Finance for two or three 
years back, and as I said this morning, he is a very, good man indeed. No my 
lord, I ~ravely doubt and as far as I know there is nothing in the evid'cnce to 
show that an auditor was put in the Banque Nationale by the Department of 
Finance. Sir Henry Drayton mentioned "a man" being in the bank. There is 
a very great difference between the Department of Finance putting in an auditor 
who is known to the offirials in the bank a-; a Government auditor-a very un­
usual condition-and a friendly conference between the representative of some 
other bank, whieh may possibly desire to t.tke onr a bank, and the officials 
of that bank. In the case of the Banque Xationale, that was mentioned. a 
,number of times here, it is common knowledge that a loan of $15,000,000 wa'3 
,required to be made by the Government of the Provinee of Quebec to ac:sist 
the situation which existed. Now if an auditor was put by the Department of 
Finance into the Banque N"ationale at the time of Sir Henry Drayton's dealings 
with it, or a.fter_wards, sulJ:oequently to his communication to Mr. Fielding with 
respect to the Banque N ationale, it seems to me an extraordinary thing that the 
auditor was put in by either one or other· of the Ministers, and failed to deteet 
the situation; because Sir Henry Drayton resigned office at the close of 1921, 

and the bank had been doing businec:"l down until the transartion to which I 
refer, namely the subsidy or loan of $15,000,000 by the Government of the Pro­
vince of Quebec. Now I do not know the facts, and it appears to me that no­
body in this room knows the facts, and therefore I submit,that it is not proper 
to suggest that an auditor was put in the Banque N ationale. It is not in 
evidence on the record. . 

Now my friend Mr. Lafleur I think referred to the Merchants' Bank and 
asked was there not an auditor put in there? I do not think so. I do not 
think there is any evidence as to that. I do know something about that trans­
action, because evidence was given at the trial of Sir Montagu Allan for negli­
gence as President of the Bank. My recollection is that Sir Montagu Allan 
became concerned about the condition of the bank, and he brought in a very 
able Banker, Mr. McKenzie, connected with the Royal Trust Company and 
well known iJ Montreal and even throughout Canada. It is a very different 
thing, putting in an auditor, on behalf of the Government, in an exceptional 
instance of an individual bank, and the President of a bank in a friendly way, 
in pursuance of his own desire to put the bank upon a proper basis, asking a 
fellow banker to co-aper.ate with him in order that the facts as to the bank's 

• 
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condition may be ascertained. There is .nothing in that situation that need 
arouse any suspicion, or that would be likely to arouse any suspicion on the 
part of officers of the bank, other than the President and one or two who may 
be next him. Assume that it did become known to a larger group; the inference 
would be that some other bank was about to amalgamate with the bank; or 
some other bank was about to takie over the assets, under the Bank Act, of 
the bank in question. In those so-called amalgamations, which are in reality 
the purchase and sale of the assets of one bank by another bank, a substantial 
price, a satisfactory 1price, because goodwill enters into it, is usually obtained 
by the selling bank, and its shareholderes are usually well satisfied/ and so are 
its officers for the most part, because a stronger situation is created, and there 
is a larger sphere of promotion for ability. Usually a weak bank as to assets 
is taken over by a stronger bank, and the amalgamated bank, so to speak, 
although that is hardly the proper term in law, becomes a much• larger institu­
tion than either of the other two. Therefore when one bank takes over another, 
while there is undoubtedly a conference between the bankers, the officials of 
the one bank and the officials of the other, and while the assets are looked into 
more or less carefully, it is a perfectly freindly proceeding, it ·is not an audit 
in the sense in which we have been talking of an audit, and consequently not 
likely to arouse anything more than a rumour that there might be an amalga­
mation between the two banks; and when there is a rumour of an amalgama­
tion between two banks, the stock of the weaker bank goes up; instead of 
there being a run on the bank, the situation of the bank in the public estimation 
is improved. -

Now what similarity is there between that situation and a situation irr 
which, while there is ·no regular system of inspection provided for by law, the 
Minister of Finance suddenly puts an auditor into· a bank, against the will 
of the President and other executive officeres? We do not require Mr. Edwards 
to tell us what would happen. And I am sure, if your lordship felt that it 
would be proper for you to do so, which 'I do not suggest, to consult with prac­
tical bankers, you would. get a very different opinion from that which has been 
put forward here by accountants. As that is probably not practicable, and 
might not be proper,-although I believe it would be, under the powers con­
ferred upon your lordship,-let us use our own commonsense with regard to it. 
The question is asked, who is this man who has come into the bank? He is 
the Government auditor. There is no system of regular inspection. What is 

• he doing in the bank? There must be something wrong? Ho}V long, would :t 
take for that to get out? And what might be the consequences? Especially 
in critical financial conditions, what might be the consequences. I think your 
lordship. can answer that just as well as any banker or as any auditor, by just 
turniµg your practical mind upon it and asking yourself the question: and 
asking your self the other question, whether if you were the Minister of Fin­
ance you would feel quite as confident as some Counsel here that no untoward 
consequences would follow. I read your lordship this morning what Mr. 
Edwards said before the Committee on Banking and Commerce. When I saw 
the newspaper report I said, Surely that is not what he said here, and I took 
the trouble to get the record. He was not cross-examined strongly enough 
here upon the point. That was my fault; I should have been here. 

I spoke this morning about the effect of the Bankers' As~ociation looking 
into t1'1c affairs of the bank. I am not going over that again now, except to call 
your lordship's attention specially to what I said this morning. Because the 
matter has been dealt with so lightly here that I thought it had been dealt 
with almost flippantly. I do not mean by intention. I have entertained such 
views on the matter, and no man has had to think more deeply about it than I had 
when I was Minister, and since, for that matter, in reflecting upon it, that I can 
hardly understand a ,man who comes forward here and says that there would 
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be no trouble if a Government auditor or an out,ide auditor were put into a 
bank. This inquiry is concernerl pricipally with the affairs of a particular bank; 
but neverthelet'l, the evidence taken here is being made in part the material upon 
which the Banking and Commerce Committee is to-day considering the ques­
tion of amendment to the Bank Act. Now I am not going to take the time of 
yovr lordship in discussing the question of inspection of banks, except in ~o far 
as it has a bearing upon the position of a Minister under the Act of 
1913. Every Minister of Finance, for the last thirty years, has felt him­
self in a dilemma, and a very grave dilemma, when a complaint has been 
made to him about the condition of a bank. In the first place, as I 
have said, he ha:i to ask himself, "\Vhat does this letter mean that has come 
to me in regard io this bank? Is this man genuinely concerned or is there­
something else behind it? · On the one hand, if he takes th~ active step of putting 
an auditor into the bank, he may bring down the bank or injure it very gravely, 
which he has no right to do. On the other hand he, may find that ]1:;tter rise 
up in judgment against him, no mat;tter who wrote it, at a distance of years in 
time from the date at which it was received. No matter wqo wrote it, or with 
what motive it was written. I say that the position of Minister of Finance, 
under the legislation of 1913,-which I myself introduced into the House,-and 
the legislation of 1923-which the Rt. Hon. Mr. Fielding introduced-is intoler­
able through lack of facilities afforded by the legislation for the purpose ot taking 
proper and at the rnme time safe action. A Minister is pre:iented with a 
dilemqi.a which causes him the greatest anxiety, no mr .. tter which horn of it he 
look,; at. If the Minister had a bureau of inspection in connection with his 
Department, by which the he:id offices of banks were regularly visited, under the 
authority of legislation, the :,ituation would be qui,te different. The In<:pector 
would then make his rounds in the usual course. There would not be any ques­
tion about the Government auditor being in the bank. It would be the duty 
of the Government auditor to go periodically to the banks, just as the superintend­
ent of insurance periodically vi~its the Insurance companies or the loan com­
panies, because they are under his jurisdiction now. 

It is not part of the Inquiry here, the extent to which the inspection should 
go; but it should undoubtedly relate to the larger loans, and should be an inspec­
tion, in the sense that I defined earlier in my argument. 

As against audit, an inspector values securities. An auditor is usually 
an accountant, although, as I said, some auditors are more than accountants. t 
I am drawing a distinction between an inspector who appra.ises as well as , 
audit-,, and an auditor who is principally an accountant. The trouble is 
usually at the head office, and I think if such a bureau were established it 
would relieve the :Minister from much responsibility and would prevent such 
gross frauds as have destroyed one or two banks, two or more banks of Canada, 
including the Home Bank. The bearing on my argument is that under the Act 
of 1913 and under the Act of 1923, the Minister is reasonably apprehensive as 
to the effect of his: putting an auditor in an individual bank. That is all I 
intend to say about that. 

NQw I come to another aspect of the case of the petitioners. They put 
forward the contention that if an auditor had been put into the Home Bank by 
the Minister of Finance in 1916, 1917, 1918 or later, that the true condition 
of the bank would have been di~covered; and as that was not done, that all 
the losses that have occurred since are the inevitable and natural consequence 
of remissness on the part of the Department of Finance. Well, now if the 
bank had remained under precisely the same admini,,tration, there might be 
something to be said for that contention, always provided that the basis of 
remissness is established. It is not a legal claim. They put forward the 
petition on the analogy of a legal claim, and they say it is a moral claim. 
Of course they could not recover against the Governme~t in a Court of law, 
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no matter whether there was remissness or not; and of ·course I have sub­
mitted and I think I have established to your lordship that there was no re­
missness. 

• Daly ousted Haney. I have not followed the reports.of the liquidator, but I 
heard it stated here that Mr. Daly had obtained a million dollars from the bank. 
I heard it stated, I think in evidence, if not here then elsewhere that Mr. 
Barnard's company owed the bank a million and two or three hundred thousand 
dollars. With.in the last two years there have been enormous losses made by the 
Home Bank. In one case in Montreal I under:otand that $750,000 were handed 
over to a company there without any security. I was out of office on August 
l::;t, 1919. I have been trying to get an illustration for your lordship. I am 
fond of metaphors and similes, and also I have had a great liking for the study 
of medicine, and I draw an illustration from that study. There is an operation 
known in surgery as an exploratory operation, or exploratory incision. A patient 
is ill, and the symptoms are more or less obscure. It is suggested that there 
should be an exploratory incision to aid in diagnosis; but the doctor, an experi­
enced man, says, " I am afraid that the corrdition of the patient is such that an 
exploratory incision might kill him." And the exploratory incision is not made. 
The doctor has Honestly given his opinion, it is adopted, and the in_cision is not 
made. The man, not fully recovering, but improying in condition, engages 
again in the activities of his calling and through association with some parties 
with whom he had not been associated before, he engages in specul(ttion and loses 
his entire estate and a large amount beside, then he dies. Could the executors 
of the estate set up a claim against the doctor? ' 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: T~at he had not killed him at once? 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: My learned friend has anticipated my conclusion. 
They set up a claim on the analogy of law, as they put it, that if the dortor who 
hesitated to have the expl9ratory incision made, by rC{lson of the condition of 
the patient as he had reason to judge it, had made the incision, the patient 
would then have died and would not afterwards have engaged in these disastrous 
sperulations and so might not have lost all of his estate. That is his case, my 
lord. 

Mr. McL.H,GHLIN: I will admit that the doctor would not be liable. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Well, it is sg,id that an admission is the best evidence. 
I will let it go at that. 

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: He should have sent him to a specialist. , . 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: The trouble is that sperialists like Mr. Lee, are not 

Mini-,tcrs of Finance. If you get int-0 the realm of probabilities, your lordship 
will have to consider whether a man who would have known precisely the right 
thing to do, is likely ever to be a Minister. 

Now I am coming to another point, my lord, and it touches on the question 
of your lordship's jurisdiction to pass upon the question of justification. There 
are one or two con::;iderations further that I desire to draw to your lordship's 
attention in that regard. I am going to lead up to it, and your lordship will see 
the bearing of what I say in a few minutes, by referring to the strictures that 
have been passed upon the Minister here by counsel and particularly by my 
pugnacious friend Mr. Lee. You will see the bearing in a moment. Mr. Lee 
has paid me some compliments, which I very highly value. Mr. McLaughlin 
has spoken of my work during the war in kindly terms, which I shj:ill always 
remember with gratitude. But Mr. Lee is not eontcnt with either lager beer or 
ginger ale. He prefers a shandygaff, which in the days before the O.T.A. was 
in force meant a mixture of the two. I mean that while with one breath he has 
extolled me to the skies, in the next he has consigned me almost to perdition. 
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He has passed the most severo censure upon not only myself, but Sir Henry 
Drayton and the Rt. Hon. Mr. Fielding, who are not here to defend themselves. 
I am not here in any sense representing either of those gentlemen; I wish to 
make that absolutely clear; but "A fellow feeling m~kes us wondrous kind" • 
and all Ministers of Finance are sympathetic at least toward the burdens and 
responsibilities which their predecessors have borne, or their succcosors must 
bear; so that I am using the names of the two Ministers and referring to the 
fact that Mr. Lee 'ht1s been quite impartial-if anything he has favoured me 
a little-but he has been practically speaking quite impartial in the severity of 
his censure upon the three Mini-;ters who together have spent a period of 28 
years a<; Mini~ters of Finance in this country; from 1896 when the Rt. Hon. 
Mr. Fielding came in, until the present time. Mr. Fielding of course is the dean, 
with eighteen years in office; I was eight years, and Sir Henry Drayton about 
two. Now Mr. Lee refers to 'the three Ministers as constituting "a trinity of 
negligence." 

Mr. LEE: "Inaction," pardon me. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: "Inaction"? Then the papers were wrong? 

Mr. LEE: The papers were wrong. 

Sir THOMAS WnrTE: They are sometime::, wrong. I have found that my~elf. 
"A trinity of inaction." Now I do not know precisely what he said by way of 
censure or stricture upon the Mini~tcrs other than my,clf, although I believe 
that at least one of them came in for fairly rough trratment by way of vitupera-
tion. • 

Now I have selected from the record a few of the epithets which Mr. Lee 
has bestowed upon me, and which have gone over this country, because they 
make good headlines, something for thr people to talk about in a time when 
many people desire, for some curious reason, present after every war, to pass 
censure upon the men who have occupied high po::,itions, whether they were 
soldiers or sailors or public mrn. We are in such a period now. After every 
wa!' there is a period of recrimination. There was after the American Civil 
War; after the Crimean War; after the Napoleonic wars; we are in that period 
now; a period of detraction. I could analyze the p::,yehology of it but I am not 
going to take the time. 

Mr. Lee has referred to me as " a lovely ornament, which the public found 
to be too ·expensive." As that could not refer by any chance to intellectual 
qualities or attributes, he 'must have had in mind my personal appearance. " A 
lovely ornament.'' Since hearing that I have been quite puffed up by the com­
pliment to my personal appearance, because as I have been getting along in 
years, I have been rather losing conceit of myself in that regard, so that I owe 
something to Mr. Lee for rehabilitating my self-esteem. 

Mr. LEE: You are getting, better looking all the time. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Then he said that I have been a "switchman." He 
is fond of mixing his metaphors. He says I was a switchman and went to 
sleep at the switch; then that I was a mariner, who navigated badly; an engi­
neer who disregarded danger signals and threw open his throttle lev~r; and 
then he called me a tramp. • 

Mr. LEE: Not that I know of. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: You said I slept in a barn. A tramp sleeps in a barn. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Did he not also say you were a fish? 

.. 
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Mr. LAFLEUR: Yes, he compared you to a fish swallowing the hook, line and 
sinker. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: If he had said a poor fish, that_would be "The most 
unkindest cut of all." 

" Mr. LAFLEUR: And having gone through the threshing mill. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: You' must have been wheat thrn in the barn. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Now my lord, I have naturally been a little bewild­
ered by these various descriptions or metaphors. 

Mr. LEE: Compliments. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: And I am going to ask your lordship, what am I, in 
view of all this? 

Mr. LEE: A wonder. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Since the days of Frankenstein has there been such 
an extraordinary mixture as I have been pictured before this tribunal? Now let 
Il\e call your lordship's attention to a fundamental fault in· this inquiry and it 
will show why I have been introducing something that might appear a matter 
of pure levity. The attempt to review the unfettered discretion of a Ministet 
is quite contrary to constitutional usage, as I have already contended.. It ·is 
when his judgment is sought to be brought under review, that vituperation like 
this is possiblE,J; and I contend that a situation in which, outside of Parliament, 
the unfettered honciot discretion of a Minister, as to its quality, is brought 
under review, is plainly unconstitutional and aga-inst the public interest. I 
call your attention to those words, the unfettered, unconditional, discretionary 
act of a Minister of the Crown. Now suppose your lordship had been asked to • 
report on the facts, as I contend is contemplated in the Inquiric::1 Act. There 
_would not have been any vituperation of Ministers, because there would have 
been ·no evidence on the point and no argument would be permissible. 

The question would be, what were the facts•; wlrnt ·were the communica­
tions, if any, received? What were the conditions at that time? What did 
the Minister do? If you like, what result followed? Facts. But when a Com­
.mission is asked to pronounce on the quality of a Minister's act, where it i-­
honest; then the inquiry is thrown wide open to just what we have ha,d here. 
That is one reason, as I submit to your lordship, and I could prove from con­
stitutional authority,· is a reason among others, for the rule that a Minister's 
conduct, if honest, can only be reviewed by Parliament. It is the matter of the 
public interest. It is not in the public interest. • 

Mr. LEE: That doctrine has been exploded in England. 

Sir THOMAS WHITE: Has it? It is not in the public interest that the quality 
of a Minister's act should be brought. in question._ 

Now, if my friend Mr. Lee were a member of Parliament, he could il_ldulge 
himself in vituperation to the limit against the three Ministers he has mentioned. 
That is, he would be at liberty to-but whether he would do it, and how he 
would fare if he did do it, is another and a very different matter. I can assure 
him there would be lions in his path. Mr. ·Fielding is not here. Sir Henry 
Drayton is not here. But in the House, if attacked as to the quality of their 
acts, they could defend themselves. And if they were not present, the mem­
bers of their party would defend them, and there would not be only one set of 
headlines that would go over Canada. I can assure counsel that it would not 
be a one-sided combat in the House of Commons. If a man made statements 
such as that in the House of Commons, and survived, I should be somewhat . 
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surprised. I have come here myself at a lo:::s of three weeks' time and trouble 
to defend a discretionary artion, which I submit should not be discussed and 
made subject to the decision of any tribunal other than Parliament. We should 
be confined here to testifying entirely as to the facts. I said to your lordship 
earlier in my argument that if there was a condition upon which the Minister's 
action was based, it would be perfectly open for your lordship to find that the 
conditiion did or did not exist. If the statute had said: " The Minister shall," 
"The Treasury Board shall," "The Governor in Council shall" do this or that 
upon certain things happening, your lord1-hip would find whether the thing had 
happened or not and whether the Minister or the Treasury Board or the Gov­
ernor in Oouncil had taken the action which Parliament impo:;ed upon them as 
a mandate; in that case the Mini-stcr, the Treasury Board, or the Governor in 
Council, are the instruments to carry out the will of Parliament, and the find­
ing on the facts would .determine whether they had carried out the will of Par­
liament or not. I am not dealing with that situation. I am dealing with a 
discretionary situati10n. I have raised a question here which I am satisfied has 
attracted and will attract a great deal of attention from the Bench and the 
Bar in Parliament, and I feel confident in leaving it with your lordship for con­
sideration and decision. 

Let me give your lordship a few illustrations, in addition to those I have 
already mentioned, as to just where this would lead. What would your lord­
ship think of a commission as to whether a judge's decision was justified or 
not? Or an arbitrator's decision? Or let us get away for a moment from the 
courts, where the discretion is absolute-a::l I contend the discretion is here,­
bo other executive action. Your lordship at one time occupied the distinguished 
po:;it:on of Attorney-General of New Brunswick. An Attorney-General from 
time to time, upon the evidence before him, institutes prosecutions, or refrains 
from in::;tituting prosecutions, and assuming that an Attorney-General honestly 
comes to the conclusion that he should institute a pro,;erution in one case, or 
should not in another ca'ie, what would be thought of a commission for the 
purpose· of reviewing his discretion and determining whether he would have 
been justified in instituting a prosecution in the case where he did not institute 
it, or that he was not justified in instituting a prosecuton in the case where he 
had instituted it? It is an executive act, unfettered, unconditioned, and honest. 

Let us look at it from another angle. We are very fortunate in this case 
to have as Commissioner a Chief Justice, and a man who has had wide experi­
ence in public affairs. What is there to suggest that if a Minister in his act is 
to be reviewed that we are are• almost certain to have a Chief Ju::ltice? We 
might have a lawyer of a. few months' standing; we might have a businef:1- man. 
What is to hinder us from having a farmer, or a labourer even, or a banker to 
pronounce op a quc::;tion like this, and then we would have the delightful spec­
tacle of a banker ~itting where your lordship is sitting pas1-ing upon my conduct 
as Minister of Finance, and ~1r. Fielding's conduct, and Sir Herlry Drayton's 
conduct, against none of whom has there been one single suggestion but only 
of honest ·action. That is where it would lead to. 

Our pre,,s in this country usually do not discuss constitutional questions. 
The matter was raieed before me a day or two ago by a constitutional author..­
ity as to what the London press would say, the writers of the Metropolitan press 
of London, if a commission were appointed to review the honest, unfettered, 
unconditioned discretion of a Minister of the Crown. 

That constitutional usage arises out of the arousing of public interest. 
Ministers are' responsible to Parliament, not to be subject to vituperation by 
counsel where there is no chance for reply. At any distance of time from the 
period of which they have been Minister, and at their own expense and loss of 
time, may there 'be an inquiry a::1 to the acts of a Minister? Yes, as to facts. 
As to the quality of the act, or ·as to pronouncing upon justification, no. 
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Your lordship, I am going to ask you for certain findings. I would ask 
you to find, first, honesty, the honest dealings by the Minister with the matter 
which is before your lordship. That is the first finding. 

Se"ondly, I am going to ask your lordship ·for a finding of diligence'. I 
have told your lordship as to the conditions prevailing in 1916, 1917 and 1918. 
I do not repre:scnt the other l\Iinisters, but it would be an extraordinary thing 
to me if your lordship did not know as to the work devolving upon them as 
Ministers of the Crown in and out of the House in the Department of finance, 
but as I am representing only myself I ask for a finding of diligence, of faith­
fulness and attention amid great perplexities, heavy responsibilities, and the 

t hardest kind of hard work day and night, to the duties of my office under the 
law, under the Bank Act of 1913, with respect the Home Bank of Canada. 
And I point to the file, I point to the interviews at the time I was in, office, the 
attention that I gave to the matter after I left office, and I 'ask your lordship 
to find that there was diligence. -

I do not ask your lordship for a finding as to ·whether I exerrised sound 
judgment, according to your lordship's mind now. By no po,;sibility can your 
lordbhip now place yourself in my position then, and I say this with very great 
respect to your lordship. I am quite sure you will not misunderstand me. 

His LORDSHIP: I quite underst::tnd you. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: In order not to be personal, let me say this: There 

is no man living who can now see with my eyes then, estimate conditions with 
· my judgment then, substitute his mind now for my mind then at that tremen­

dously trying time. I could not do it myself now. I mean, your lordship, that 
I do not regard myself at tt1is moment as capable of pronouncing soundly upon 
what I did or refrained from doing at various periods of the war. 

A finding such a:5 your lordship is asked to make could not, I submit with very 
great respect, be judicial, and I know yo_ur loril.ship will want to make no other, 
at least I feel your lordship will ,vant to make no other. Ko man living can say 
what he would have done had he been in my place. "Wiseacres'' may tliink 
they can, " wiseacres " as defined by me this morning. Those possei,3ed of 
"retrospective imagination" may delude themselves into the belief that they 
would have done this or that that I did not do, or that they would not have doµe 
what I did. ~o one's opinion after the event is valuable as bearing on the 
question "What should have been done at the time?" • 

:Now, your lordship, I am drawing to the conclmion of my lengthy remarks. 
I assume that I have no reply, and I do not know that I want' to. If any of 
my learned friends, counsel for the depositors or the Government, should .open 
up any ground outside the evidence, what I mean, open up any ground that 
would come in the nature of a surprise that a man could not reasonably foresee, 
I would ask yqur lordship to be allowed to either send in a written memorandum 
to be presented through Government counsel, or probably I might cover it even 
by a telegram or something like that, or I might be able to attend here. But I 
do not think that will be necessary. I am quite content to leave this matter of 
my argument with your lordship, and I have to thank your lordship for an 
exceedingly patient hearing. • 

I have ss.id, and I repeat, that you, sir, are fortunately not only a jurist 
but an experienced public man who has served his province with high distinc­
tion in office, and one who is thoroughly acquainted with the matter of adminis­
tration in both a theoretical and a practical way, and with the usage of consti­
tutional law governing the rights and the responsibilitie5 of a minister. 
• Your lordship and the public will judge in this matter. All I have desired 
to do is to get out the facts before your lordship and before the public. For 
this I have given three weeks of my time, and your lordship's courtesy has 
afforded me the opportunity for which, I assure your lordship, I am deeply 
grateful. 
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ARGUMENT BY MR. REID 

Mr. RF,ID: My lord, speaking for myself, on behalf -of the shareholders 

whom I represent, I wish to thank your lordship for your kindness in allowing 

me to be present at thi5" inquiry to lay before y_our lordship such information as 

I am in possession of regarding their intere::it'3, and to place on record such refer­

ence to the interest;:; of the shareholders ac; may seem neces:;ary, in order that 

your lo~dship Il!ay have before you a proper appreciation of the origin and his­

tory·of this bank, in order to ascertain exactly what right~ the shareholders have. 

And in doing that I am quite certain that it will also a'-'sist the depositors, to a 

great extent, for you to know what the rights of these parties are. 
I am not asking your lordship, and I am not going to ask your lordship 

to rule on, any legal question which may be in di-,pute before the Court~, or to 

make any judicial findings of law on matters which I will lay before you, but 

just to place them in such form as will show your lordship when making your 

report to the Banking and Commerce Committee, or to whatever department 

you may make your report, or to the Governor General in Council, the circum­

stance;::; connected with the legal position attaching to the incorporation and 

present position of this bank. 
Before doing that, I would just like to make one or two remarks regarding 

some of the statements which have been made in evidence regarding the circum­

stances under which depositors and shareholders exist, so far as their interests 

are concerned, under the banking system of Canada generally. 
The depositors in any bank in Canada are really the whole fabric, founda­

tion, and keystone of 
I 
the whole banking system. Without the depositors the 

banks could not function at all. Deposits are the real life-blood of the whole 

banking system, and notwithstanding that fact that while the incorporation of 

a bank at first involves a speci~ Act of Parliament requiring the provisional 

capital, I think it is, of a million dollars, with $500,000 subscribed and $250,000 

paid in, the real basis of the ~ank's ex_istence after that is the depositon,, and, 

for that reason, I say the depositors' inten~~ts and the shareholders' interests 

are combined to an extent. which makes one absolutrly dependent upon the 

other. Notwithstanding that, under our banking system, the depositor gets 

what I call a fourth mortgage as his security, and the shareholder has prac­

tically to take his chan~e on no security and the possibility of having to pay 

for his shares over again in the case of the insolvency of the bank. What I 

mean is this: The Home Bank illustrates what has happened in other cases, 

and what might happen again unless the ban~ing system is changed in some 

way, that when a bank becomes insolvent the first claim is the circulation. 

Then comes the Dominiqn and Provincial Governments and then the depositor, 

the man who put:; in the very life-blood of the whole bank, and the whole busi­

ness, trading community of Canada into existence, and all he gets is a fourth 

mortgage. And, for that reasoh, I say the shareholder is connected in a way 

with the depositor, that anything the depositor says- in this matter of the Home 

Bank inquiry the shareholder is vitally concerned in it to the same extent, and 

anything that the shareholder can do, speaking for the people I represent, we 

are willing to do to back up anything the depositors may wi,:h us to do. 

The evidence has been so fully gone into and presented to your lordship 

that I do not intend to labour all the exhibits and other documents that have been 

put in. There is pral'tically nothing left for me to say about it, except some 

short remarks which I will have to make later on concerning the conduct of 
certain individuals under whose notice the condition of this bank was brought 

and who took no steps to remedy that condition. 
Another point I wash to draw to your lordship's attention is this, that the 

shareholders of a bank, under our system, are at the mercy of the General 

Manager and the Board of Directors, to the extent that the banking system of ' 
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Canada is run by proxy, and may be on the face of it, it appears to be, perhaps, 
the only way it can be run, in view of the fact that shareholders are S'cattered 
all over the world. The annual meeting is about to be held, proxies are sent 
out to all these shareholders residing, in some cases, in the most remote parts of 
the world. The proxies come back, and, in many cases, I understand, the system 
is they go to the President, and the result of that proxy system is that while the 
shareholder has his money invested and is subject to "the double liability, for 
the purpose of obtaining the largG dividends which the banks have been accus­
tomed to pay in Canada, the' larger banks at any rate, he is willing to take this 
chance of paying the double liability at some time, because of the large return 
which he gets on his investment, and he further places his implicit faith and 
confidence in the General Manager, or the President, and the Board of Directors, 
to see that the shareholder's interest is protected, and relying upon the position 
of the bank as presented to him through annua,l statements sent out at the end 
of the year he sends in his proxy, as a matter of form, to be voted upon as the 
Directors, or the President, or whatever official of the bank gets the proxy, may 
think fit. . •, 

The result of that is, I submit, with all respect, that' there is no other busi­
ness in the world, I ,do not.care where it is, which has such tremendous possibili­
ties, such great advantages and privileges as the Canadian banking system 
under the present system as it exists to-day. The proxy system, as I have 
described it to your lor'dship, enables the President of a bank in Canada to select 
the Board of Directors by the majority of proxy votes which he gets. In 
addition to that, the proxy appoints the auditor who is to audit a particular 
bank, and I will have more to explain about that in a moment. The proxies 
which are received also fix the salary of the auditor, and the proxies also voted 
on by the President fix the Directors' fees. 

Your lordship can see at a glance that that is the way the system workR, 
and unless some solution is found to place a curb upon the system of proxies 
by making a provision in the Bank Act, you can readily see that the whole 
sy:;tem is dependent upon the whim or the will of eight or nine very estimable 
gentlemen who are Presidents of hanks. That is the way the Canudian system 
is run. 

In addition to that, there has been mention made-I will just touch on it • 
to explain it as far as I am able with the information at my disposal-as to the 
selection of the auditor, something we have heard so much about. The auditors 
selected to audit the banks in Ca1iada every year are chosen in this manner: 
At about the middle of June or July the Bankers' Association of Canada send 
out through the mails, running from a thousand_ to twelve hundred application 
forms and notices to all the accountants' 'associations and accountants' societies 
in Canada, that a certain number of auditors are going to be selected to audit 
the chartered banks for the coming year, and asking the return of applications 
filled in from any of those who receive them, and who .desire to be appointed 
auditors for the banks. 

As the result of that system, after a few weeks or so, those application forms 
come dribbling back into the office of the Canadian Bankers' Association, and 
two or three hundred may be are returned, sometimes one hundred. 

Mr. SYMINGTO~: You know that has been changed. 

Mr. REID: I am just coming to that. And that system of iselecting auditors 
for the banks in Canada, the applications having come into the,Bankers' Asso­
ciation they are then picked out. A certain number is required by the Bank Act, 
I think it is sixty or seventy, and they are sent to Ottawa for the approval of the 
Minister. · 

These auditors are approved by the Minister as a matter of form, unless 
some objection is taken to any particular auditor for any particular reason. I 
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understand that in the la:-t twenty years objection has been taken to but two 
or three auditors, and I th_ink they lived in the United StatC's. When the 
Mini'ltC'r approves of those auditors they go back to the as::!ociation duly 
approved, and the various head offices of the banks in Canada are given this 
list, or panel as it is railed, of the auditors, and they are told •" From this you 
may :;elel't your auditors for the coming year." 

The result is that ·some of the banks, up to the present time at any rate, 
havC' had the one auditor audit two or three of the head offices -of the banks, 
and tlie salaries are fixed, as your lordship can ascertain from any of the 
annual reports, at from five to trn thousand dollars a year. I am not casting 
any reflections upon auditors, because I think the auditors, as a rule, are men of 
the very finest type that can be sel<'cted to act, but it is the system of bankinr; 
in this country which allows the hank to >'elect its auditor in that way. The 
auditor is paid a salary by the bank, and that auditor cannot be an independent 
man. His ability to audit has nothing whatever to do with what hC' audits, 
and his ability to audit has nothing to·do with the rnlary he,receives. He aurlits 
what is placed before him by the bankers, and he does not value ;-ecurities. 
He simply audits the books of• the bank. 

I am simply outlining that to your lordship as the system in Canada to-clay, 
and unless we have somC' outsidC' inspection apart altogether from the bank's 
own audit, that system will continue, and at some future time, it may be 
twenty or thirty years from now, we will have a repetition of this Home 
Bank. They. ran and they will say " Well, there was a shareholders' audit," 
and the shareholder has about as much to sav in the selection of the auditor 
as I have, and I am not a shareholder at all. . 

That is the system as it works. I just lay it before your lordship for 
what it is worth, for information in making your report to the Banking and 
Commerce Committee. 

I was going to make one other remark which I think, is justified by the 
Pvidenee brought out here, and that is this: Any systrm of banking which 
places the entire life and death of a bank, or the desirability or otherwise of 
having an inve:::ti1rntion into that bank at any time as the rc,;ult of complaints 
recC'ived from parties outside, who may be shareholders or depositors, or tho:3e 

• who may have an intrrest in the bank, in the hanrls of one man is absolutely 
wrong, and no amount of ar~ment can make it right. Even if we have a 
Finance Minister, or a Minister of Agriculture, or a Minister of Public Works, 
or any other Minister who is administering a Department, or administering 
his department in the ordinary routine, that is all right, but when it comes 
to a vital que-,,tion smh as the solvency or insolvency of a bank, as the m::ult 
of complaints made to him, I say that that matter should either be brought 
before the full Cabinet, or, if necessary, before Parliament, to find out what 
thr truth is, but under the present system if the complaint is made to the 
Minister himself it may never get before the Cabinet. It may be chloroformed 
or pigeon-holed until some catastrophe occurs, and, as s,ir Thomas White put it, 
the " retrospective imagination " gets to work and says, " You should have.done 
this " or " You should have done that ''. 

· I submit, sir, that provision should be made for that in the Bank Act. 
Now, my lord, just one other remark. I think the result of experience in 

the last ten or fifteen years of banking in this country, speaking from my own 
experience, the Ontario Bank, the Sovereign Bank, the Farmers' Bank, and now 
the Home Bank, teaches us that shares in a bank, from what we have gleaned 
from these banks I speak of, are not as.,ets at all. They prove to be liabilities. 
Just look at the position. A man has a share in a bank, and it is hanging 
over him like a dark cloud every day he lives with the possibility of having to 
pay the double lia:bility, and so I think another provision that should be made 
in the Bank Act is that, unless there is a thorough Government inspection made 

✓ 
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of a certain af:ild, bank ,harrs in this country should not be authorized as 
investments for trust fund:;. There should be an inspection made under the Bank 
Act, or some other statute, and, as I say, bank shares should not be authorized 
as investments for trust funds. Look at what it means in this very instance of 
the Home Bank, people pauperized and sent to poor houses, thousands of 
depositors or shareholders all over the country, and in a large number of estates 
in the list of contributories, money invc~ted from the estates of children and 
young people who were depending on it for a living. . 

Now, my lord, I wish to deal with' the incorporation of the bank, as I 
c say this, that one of the absolutely e::isential conditions precedent, I call it, to 

the existence of any chartered bank in Canada is that it ought to be incor­
porated by a special Act of incorporation as provided by the general Act, and 
that it conforms thereafter to all the general provisions and conditions of the 
general Bank Act after it n·rPiveil its special Art of incorporation. 

The Home Bank of Canada was incorporated in the year 1903 under and 
by virtue of a Statute 3 Edward VII, chapter 127, which was assented to on 
the 10th July, 1903, and it is to be found in Volume 2 of the Statutes of 
Canada for 1903. 

The general Bank Act of Canada requires that a certificate shall be 
obtained from the Treasury Board of Canada before business is commenced, and 
that that certifiratr must be applied for and obtained within one year from the 
date oi the incorporation. And there is a provision in section 16 of the gmeral 
Bank Act of Canada which mys:-

" If the bank doe::i, not obtain a certificate from the Treasury Board 
within one year from the time of the paf'sing of its Act of incorporation, 
all the right-;, powers and privileges conferred on the bank by its Act 
of inc-orporation shall thereupon ec·aEae and determine, and be of no force 
or effect whatever.'~ 

The Home Bank it is admitted, and is not disputed, did not get its, certifi­
cate to do business within one year from the 10th day of July, 1903, and I say 
it died what I term, a statutory corporate death, on the 10th July, 1904, and 
w:1-; ndt legally entitled to call itself a chartered bank, or any other kind of a 
bank after that date. ' 

That is a clear position about which there is no dispute or question, that 
within that period of time it did not get a certificate to do bu:5iness. It did· not 
1--tart to do busincs:o, but what happened? 

On the 18th day of July, 1904, a Statute known as 4 Edward VII, chapter 
83 a:5!:>ented to on the 18th July, 1904, to be found in the Statutes of Canada, 
V ~lumes 1 and 2, for 190:1, w,1-; pailSC'd by which the Parliament of Canada 
rxtended the time for one year to the 10th July, 1905, within which the said 
Home Bank of C:mada might obtain it" ecrtificate to commence business. But 
what I say is this, and I ~hall refor your lordship to the Statute in a moment, 
that the second Statute which was pas:5ed and a-,~ented to on the 18th July, 
1904, did not reincorporate the' bank, but that it simply extrnded the time for 
one year within which the Bank could get its certificate to do busines$, and my 
submission is that, the bank and all its right~, powers and privileges having 
cea:,ed and determined under :-ection 16 of the Bank Act on the 10th July, 
1904, the se{'ond Art which was pas~erl on the 18th .July, 1904, extending the 
time to the 10th July, 1905, wa;: futile legislation. It assumed to extend the 
time for something whieh had rrasl'd to exi,-t. The Statute that was pa,:sed 
on the 18th July, 1904, had nothing on which to operate. It could not be 
retroactive becau;:e there was nothing on whieh it could act. In other words, 
it trird to keep alive something that had actually died and gone out of businl'«:;, 
and the sec·ond Statute, I submit, should have reincorporated the bank in addi-

79392-4 
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tion to giving it another year to do bu,-iness, and not huving done so the sharr:; 
of stock which were i:;sued to my clients, and to other ,-hareholders, were share-, 
of stock which had no legal or valid issue, were ,-,hares of stock to which the 
double liability does not apply, and they could, if they de:->ire so to do, apply for 
a return of their money. 

I simply lay that before your lordship for whatever it is worth in your 
lordship's view, as to the legal position of this bank on which you are going 
to report, and I submit that the Government of the day in those years, having 
made what may be an unintentional blunder, no doubt whatever about that, 
or the draughtsman having blundered in f-iome way in getting his dates mixed, 
or in doing something that he wa'> not thinking what he was doing, the Gov­
ernment of the day, and the prei'ent Government, consequently, are respon-
sible for all the loss and damage that has been sub::,equently caused as a re:;ult 
of the liquidation and failure of the bank. That is to say, if a bank carrir-; 
on business illegally, without a proper charter, and not under the authority of 
the Act, taking the depositors' money, :::elling st-Ock to the public, and not 
functioning as required by the Bank Act, that authors of that blunder, who-
ever they may be, or whatever the cause, are legally and ju!"tly and fairly 
responsible to those who have suffered either directly or indirectly as a result 
of that action, and the least that could be done would be to reim1burse those who 
have suffered to the extent of the loRR of their liability, if not for the whole of 
their shares, and the depositors in full, became they were putting their deposib 
into an institution that was not a legal and incorporated bank. 

The most than car,i be said about it is that it is that they are an unincorpor­
ated body of trustees on behalf of depositors and shareholders. They could not be 
a partnership, becam1e you cannot have a partnership in a bank. They bought 
stock in an unincorporated :bank and thought they were buying stock in an 
incorporated bank, and they could not be sold stock in anything else, so that 
under the:Se circum<;tancei' they are entitled to have their money back for failure 
of consideration for not having received what they intended to buy, and no 
partnership, or any aggregation of men, tru;:;teef: or otherwise, except a trust 
and deposit company can carry on buf'iness in this country unless incorporated 
by special Act of Parliament. I trust I have made that clear to your lord;:;hip. 

His LORDSHIP: I understand you. 

1 

r 

Mr. REID: There is another aspect of this' that I wiRh to draw to your 6 
lordship's attention too. The Act incorporating the Home Bank of Canada 
on the 10th July, 1903, is in clause 5. There are only five or six clau:;e;:; in the 
Act, and this Act was subject to the provisions of section 16 of the Bank Act, 
,that is,., the general Bank Act. This Act was to remain in force until the 1st 
of July of the year 1911. The intention of that is to carry it over to the next 
revision of the Bank Act, the re,mlt being that this Act shall remain in force 
until 1921. As your lordship knows there is a revision every ten years. 

What I wish to point out to your lordship there is this, that the Statute 
incorporating the Home Bank of Canada is a self-executing automatic Statute. 
By its own terms, with the as:;i-,tanee of section 16 of the Bank Act, it auto­
matically expires. Now there is a provi~ion in the Bank Act regarding the 
renewal of Charters. I have not the exact reference in the new Act, but there 
has been no change, the gist of it is to provide for the renewal of Charters, but 
that nothing in thi:s Section shall be deemed to continue in force any Charter 
or Act of incorporation if, or insofar as it is, under the terms thereof, or under 
the terms of this Act, or of any other Act, forfeited or rendered void by reason 
of the non-performance of the conditions of such Charter or Act of incorpora­
tion, or by reason of in,-olvency, or for any other reason. That gets over the 
argument which I heard one or two gentlemen advance in Toronto, this Sta-
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tute having expired by virtue of its own terms with the assistance of Section 16 
of the Bank Art it could not be renewed, because this Act had not been com­
plied with and its terms had not been carried out, and for that reason it went 
by the Board and the new Act did not reincorporate the bank. 

Then there is another point in connection with the incorporation. This bank 
is the mmlt of an application made in April, 1903, by the Directors of an old 
concern incorporated in 1854 I think, ~nown as the Home Saving and Loan Com­
pany. In Mr. Edward's evidence he refers to the fact that this application to 
Parliament for the incorporation of this bank was made by reason of the great 
increase in business of this loan rompany, by reason of this great increase in loans 
and assets they deemed it prudent to make application to Parliament to turn it 
into a bank. On the 30th of December, 1905 they made an agreement between 
the Home Savings and Loan Company and the Home Bank of Canada by which 
the Home Bank agreed and undertook to purchase the assets and assume the 
liabilities of this old Home Savings and Loan Company. The amount involved 
was somewhere between $3,000,000 and $4,000,000. The agreement is on record, 
it is referred to, in the evidence, and I submit that the whole proceedings and 
tram:a<:tions btween the Home Savings and Loan Company and the Home Bank, 
in transferring on the one part and taking over on the other, the assets and 
liabilities of that concern are ab,rnlutely illegal and ultra vires, that there is no 
provision in the Bank Act, and no authority can be found anywhere in the 
banking Jim::; of Canada providing for a bank carrying out such a transaction as 
that set forth in these documents. I am not going to labour that, I simply lay 
it before your lordship so that you will have the history of this bank before you, 
that the only provision in the Bank Act of Canada for a bank taking over the 
assets and liabilities of another concern is by the purchase of another bank, that 
there is no authority whatever for the proceedings carried out here. Con­
sequently the beginning of that transaction and the assuming of those liabilities 
"·as the very beginning of the trouble,, at its very inception this bank was 
handicapped by the Frost and other loans. My view of this transaction is that 
they saw the storm elouds gathering, notwithstanding what Mr. Edwards says 
in evidence that the assets looked good to him, there was pot much examination 
on that point; I say they saw the storm clouds gathering, they saw their invest­
ment,, in the Frost and other loans getting to a point where something would 
have to be done, it was only a matter of a year or two when the Loan Company 
would be in trouble, and in order to keep the snowball rolling and make it roll 
as much more as they could, someone hit on this idea of getting a bank Charter 
and turning the whole thing over to this bank. Within two years after that 
bank starts, 30th o'f December, 1905, this agreement is made in the year 1907. 
In Mr. Clarkson's evidence they commenced to have trouble with the Milwaukee 
bonds, the Receivership happened the next year I believe, my view looking back 
now is that they saw that coming and in order to shelve it off or make some 
new arrangement to save themselve':l they organized this bank, illegally and 
improperly I submit, and without any justification in law, and no authority can 
be found for it. 

In that conneetion I wish to draw your lordship's attention to a very 
significant clause in the Act extending the time, ai:i.::iented to on July 18, 1904; 
clause 4 says:-

" The -ad-; lawfully done and the agreements lawfully entered into 
by the provisional Directors" (that is the provisional Directors under the 
original 1ncorporating statute which I say went by the Board) " named 
in the said Act of inrorporation, as shown in the report of Minutes of 
their meetings, shall be and remain as valid and effectual to all intents 
and purposes as if no change of provisional Directors were hereby made." 

• 
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What I >'aY about that is that when this Act extending the timr was applied 
for to Parliament rnmething took plaee of which we have no evidcn1·c except 
what we i:-cc written in the ,-tatute, that que,-tions had been raiRed u, to foe 
legality of the proceeding'> which had taken place,. before the Committee or 
before Parliament, and an attempt wa-: made tu legalize them, but Parliament 
was too cute. Parliament apparpnt ly had looked owr what they had done, and 
all the dii,:tance they wuuld go w:1-: to ;;ay that the ad,- lawfully dune and the 
agreements lawfully entered into we will legalize, and we will ::-top there and let 
someone cl::,e deal with the que,-tion later on if a di-:putc arisPs. They pro­
tected them::;elves, they said: "·we have f'een some thing,, you have done and the 
way you have tried to switeh the:;:e a,-;-;rt-:, you have laid your caRe before us, we 
are not f-atisfied that it is right, we will look into it and if anyone in the future 
want~ to raise the quef'tion we profret our~Plvh by .::aying the ouly t!ting we 
legalize is the agreements you· h~-ve lawfully entrred into, and not otherwi:;:c." 
It is very siguificant that when the bill 1·ame up for se<'ond reading in the 
House of Common:;: Mr. Fielding who was enginPning the bill through the How,e 
said: (House of Commons Debatc>s, 1904) "That bill is -:omewh~t exceptional in 
its character, it is a departure from the genl'ral primiples of our Bank Act, the,e 
departures should only be made for special rea:;,,m:;:, I am quite ready to let the 
bill go to the Committee, when further information rau be obtained from the 
honourable gentleman who i;; promoting it." That i,: all there i:- in the DPbate::­
of the House, I have searched them thruugh and throuµ;h, it wa-: an ordinary 
inrorporating statute whirh goe9 through tlw Commons without much comment. 
Here was a statute that the Finance Mini:::ter him;-plf Raid looked rather 
pxceptional, "I will not agree to it, I will send it to the_ Committee and let 
them deal with it." What wa,: rn exrPptional in i:"' C'harader wa,; the taking 
over of the as8ets of the Loan Company and making tlwm part of the ('apital 
of the bank, for which there wac:; no legal authority whatever in the Bank Art 
of Canada. And when they finally put the bill through Parliament without 
reincorporating the bank, that was the only thing they legalized, what they had 
legally done. 

Now that is the history of the irn·orporation of the Home Bank, another 
reason, I reRpel'tfully submit, why the depo;;itms as well n-, the ~harehold<>rs 
should get some tonsideration here for what I '-ay were illegal and improper 
acts in connection with the original incorporation and the starting of this bank 
on it9 f'areer. 

Another thing I wi-:h to draw to your lord:-hip's attention is that a ,e<'ond 
incn'a8e of the capital stoek of this bank was applied for, a. by-law wa,- pa:-1:'cd 
by the directors increasing the capital ,-tol'k $1,000,000 on 6th June, 1907, and it 
was decided to submit the by-law to the shareholder~ at the annual meeting to 
be held on the 25th June following in order to obtain authority to inerea,e the 
capital stock of the bank from $1,000,000 to $2,000,000. On the 25th June, 
1907, the sec~nd annual meeting of the bank was held at which 1\1. ,J. Hanry 
was pre,.ent us a director, and by-law No. 9, being a by-law to increa,;e the capital 
stock from $1,000,000 to $2,000,000 divided into 10,000 sham- of $100 each wac:; 
debated and passed. What I say about that is that the capital f:toek of a 
chartered bank in Canada cannot be inereascd without the ron:-Pnt of thr 
Department of Finance, no shares can be i:;:,:ued that are valirl or legal, or of 
any effect whatever without a certificate from the Department, and tlwre i~ 
not on record any evidence of such rert.ificate, tlwre rannot b~, there is nothing 
in the Finance Department to i-how that that second increa;;e of capital stoek 
wa:,; ever authorized or sanctioned by the Department. I say that every "hare 
of stock sold of that c:;econd increase of capital was illegal, ultra vire,;, and an 
over i:;sue of st-0ck for which no authority wa~ ever given by the Finance Depart­
ment. 

-. 

I 



• 

HOME B.,1NK OF CANADA ·,as 

I am not going to labour the next point, there wa:, a further increase of 
eapital stock to $5,000,000. There wa,.: no certifirnte i~:;urd by the Finance 
Department for that eit!JPr, 61.lt I umler-itand, and I think the records show, that 
they did not ,-ell any of that stork. But they did not forget to do this, when 
that inere:.L:e was authorized in 1913, the fact that it was authorized by by-law 
docs not make it legal, but when that by-law was p~~;,,ed 'they printed on their 
annual statement that the authorizrd capital was S5,000,000, paid up capital 
$2,000,000. That went on for over ten years to 1923 although it was never legally 
authorized, but it looked as if it had been, gave the public to undcr:;tand that it 
wa::,. That sho,vs how the busine~s of the bank ,va-, done. Tha,t is the history 
of thr capital stock isrn'e-, of the bank. 

~ow in reading the evidence and listening tu the witne~--es I am sure that 
we were all :;truck by one thing, that was the evidence of :\fr. Haney and Mr. 
Crerar, which :;eemed to me all through as of the greatest importance. 

' Mr. SYMINGTON: l\lr. Hanry neYer gave eYidence. 
Mr. REID: I mran the exhibits refl'rn·d to concerning Mr. Haney and the 

exchange of letters and documents. J\Ir. Haney appears first as a director on 
the 30th of Det·ember, 1905, when he sign:,; the agreement between the Home Bank 
and the Home Savings & Loan Company a;; a director. He :,igns that agreement 
tran,-fcrring the assets to the Hume Bank, and at the fir,,,t annual meeting of the 
bank, a::; appears by the printed reports, M . .J. Haney appears as a director. 
The first annual meeting was held on .June 26th, 1906. He also appears as a 
director at the annual mreting of the bank held on .June 25th, 1907. He has 
been a ,-hareholder of the Home Bank ever since 1906, he became Vier-President 
in 1916 and Pre:;ident in 1917, and re~igned ns Prc--ident in 1920. Now the part 
that strikes me about Mr. Haney':::; C'onnection with the bank is this, that in 
exhibit 96, rPferred to at page 183 it j-, stated that: 

"Mr. Haney, now President of the bank, had joined the Board of 
Directors shortly before the--e rrpresentations had been made." 

Now as a matter of fact Mr. Hanry had been a shareholder and director 
fur a great number of years, and the sugge::-tion that he only became a director 
and became aware of these reprr~entation-, and other matters a yr;1r or two before 
the roi;n_plaints were made is norn-emP. He has been conneeted with the bank 
ever since its inception, he signed the agreement taking over thr assets of the 
Home Savings & Lm.n Company, and has been fully acquainted with every 
turn nnd move of this bank from the day it wa-; born down to the dny it _failed. 
I propose to say something about that later when I deal briefly with the annual 
reports . 

:1VIr. Haney being fully acquainted, I submit, with all the financial tran,::­
actions of this bank and with everything that wa;; going on, being fully posted 
in regard to all the loans, knowing everything that was done in l'onnection with 
the elrction of diredors and inwf'tigations on the inf'ide, knowing everything 
that the general manager and a--sistunt manager and inspector.:; were doing, I 
submit when he ~ent those annual reports out to the public from 1906 down to 
tlie year 1920 whrn he re,-igned a,- president, he knew without any one telling 
him that tl10se annual statements wrre fal~e and fn,udulent. And I propose 
to f:how that by reference to the figures as they appeared in the statement, from 
time to time and compare tlwm with the evidrnl'e of the auditor«. The:-e state­
ments going out from year to year were drf'igneclly prepared to mislead the 
public and induce per-,ons to buy stoek, they were padded and fixed up for the 
purpo"e of lulling into a false $('n,;:e of srrurity, the public, the shareholders and 
the depositors. Take the ,:tatement sent out in 1916, the Yery year the eom­
plaints were made to the Finance Department, and take what Mr. Haney says 
in Exhibit No. 96, page 185:~ 
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" The inferl'nce to be drawn from Mr. :\Iaclrnffie's statement-- with 
refrrence t-0. dividends paid by the bank seems to be that thc--e divid<;nds 
were paid out of eapital, and not out of profits. This statement, or 
inferl'nre, is unfounded. :No dividends have been paid out of capital, and 
the profits of the bank, actually earned, have been amply sufficient to 
warrant the payment of the dividPnd::: whirh have be(•n derlarcd." 

I submit that on the evidence of :\Ir. Edward,; and Mr. Clarkrnn that at 
that very date the capital and rr-,erve of the bank were gone, no dividends were 
earned, and between 1916 and 1923 the stock of the Home Bank had no value 
whatever. No profits were earned out of whirh they could pay dividends, yet 
he makes this knowingly false report to the Finance Department. At that very 
time he wa-- writing letters to l\ir, Crerar suggesting mergers, rnggPf'ting the 
formation of a pool to krep the stock up to 80 that had been sold at 133 and no 
dividends being earned, and eapital and re'Jt gone, yet he say:;:-

" No dividendf- have been paid out of capital, and the profit,.: of the 
bank, actually earned, have been amply ~uffi,·ient to warrant the pay­
ment of the dividends which have been dedarBd." 

Then he goes to work and embodies tho;:e statements in the report to the 
shareholderf-1, absolutely ful-,e and fraudulent, and he knew it was so when he 
made them. 

In Exhibit No. 148, pagP 428, Mr. Haney write.,;; a letter to Mr. Crerar on 
April 3, 1916, and mys:-

" I am arranging for a pool to 8Upport Home Bank stock and main­
tain it at a price not below eighty. This will require $200,000, and we 
want the ro-opcration of our We,,tern friend-, and I trust you will help 
me to the extent of $50,000." 

Then ::\1r. Crf'far write::. a letter in return to :Mr. Haney dated April 8, 1916, 
Exhibit No. 149, in which he says:- · 

"I have, as you know, been under the impre:;,;ion that we may have 
to dean off entirely the pre,;ent re~erve of the oank in order to pre,-,ent 
a rorrect report to the shareholders. Of course the present examination 
of affairs going on under your dirertion with Mr. Ma1·haffie's a8sistance 
may show that this will not be necessary, but having in view the po:::--i­
bility that the full re~erve of the bank may have to go, and assuming 
even a worse ronstruction that there may have to be a reduction in the 
capital, I think it is important to have under serious consideration the 
eour'-'e that should be followed." 

Yet' at that very date he sends this false and fraudulent statement to the 
Drpartment of FinanC'c a-: a report of the Board of Directors of the Home Bank. 
He must have known at that time that the whole fabrir of the bank had gone 
and that l'Ollapse was imminent. Here is a man who ha,:; been connected with 
thf': bank during the whole of its existence, and a Dirertor and President, a 
pillar of the church and a leader in society in Toronto. Was it any wonder 
that people were misled, having fraudulent statements of that kind laid before 
them? Yet no explanation is given, Mr. Haney does not come here, from the 
day thi:,; bank blew up right down to this minute, Mr. Haney,-I will not say 
anything har,:h about him becau~e I suppose he is a sick man,-but he has not 
l'nme into the witnc:,~ box or before any rommittee or rourt with one single 
word of explanation or exru'-'e or palliation for this disgrareful eondurt that 
took place in 1916, let alone other years, and when he is summoned to come he 
sends a doctor's rertifirate which may be 1tll right but surely he could give a 
,.statement, dictate it and let us have some explanation, because I submit that 

, 
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he and Mr. Crerar are the key::;tones in the greater part of this whole trans­
action, they were the men ,vho carried on this correspondence, who made the 
complaints to the Finance Department, and who know the whole inside work­
ings of this bank. 

But that is not all. I must give Mr. Crerar this much credit, up to a certain 
point complaints had been made as to the manner of conducting the business 
in. Toronto, and his company being anxious to get financial as;:.istance in the 
West and get banking assistance for themselves and their farmer friends to 
develop their business no doubt desired to have a· bank in the West which would 
give them that assistance, and in order to give it of course had to sell stock, 
and by getting the farmers of the West intem;ted in the stock of the Home 
Bank the natural consequence would be that they would put their deposits in 
the Home Bank, so things went merrily along for a while until complaints com­
menced to be made to the Directors in Toronto as to the manner in ,vhich cer­
tain accountc;; were being conducted. Now Mr. Crerar and Mr. Kennedy, the 
Vice-President I think of the Grain Growers, had large interests at stake. Mr. 
Crerar had his $6,600 and Mr. Kennedy had :14,,300 in stock, and in case the 
bank blew up and they had to pay double liability they would have to put in 
another similar amount. In addition they had the Grain Growers to com,ider, 
which Bad $100,000 worth of stock for which they paid $133,000, and in case of 
the double liability being imposed and they had to pay another $100,000 I sup­
pose it would have practically wiped them out of existence. Now all these 
things were in their minds when this agitation was going on and this corre­
spondence took place; and after about a year, getting no results from the 
correspondence, Mr. Crear is suddenly sworn in as a Minister of the Crown. 
That was in October, 1917, I think, and he sent in his letter of resignation to 
the bank in January, 1918. Mr. Kennedy, the Vice-President of the Grain 
Growers' Company, I think resigned as a Director at the annual meeting in 
1919. Now after Mr. Crerar was sworn in a~ Minister of the Crown and became 
a member of the Government he remained there until June, 1919. During that 
whole period, when he was in a position where he could have forced on the 
Government the things which he had been voicing through these exhibits, when 
he had been writing letters suggesting merger, what did he do? When I asked 
him if he did anything during the time he was in office he replied, " If you mean 
with the Directors of the bank, no I did not, and if you mean with the Govern-

•ment, I refuse to answer." That is the information you get. He again becomes 
a member of the House of Commons in 1921, supporting the present Govern­
ment, and he is there at the time of the failure in 1923, and during that period 
of two years he does nothing. He knows the inside condition of the bank. But 
this they did: in 1918, having good reason to suppose that the disaster could 
not be very long delayed he :;old the greater part of his stock, saved himself 
the double liability. Mr. Kennedy, the Vice-President of the Grain Grower,-, 
sold his shares. Mr. Crerar sold the balance of his stock in 1923, a very small 
amount. The Grain Growers sold their $100,000 worth in 1919 to Mr. Daly, 
stock for which they had paid $133,000 they sold at par, and they say " Oh we 
suffered a great loss.'' But how much loss did they suffer? During that period 
of time, from 1910 when they became shareholders down to 1919 when they 
sold their stock, they drew $60,000 in dividends, so on the whole transaction 
they had a net return of $27,000 notwithstanding their loss of $33,000 on the 
original investment. So you can see from that that when this pool was sug­
gested by Mr. Haney and Mr. Crerar said: I do not think I can do that with­
out letting the Directors of the Grain Growers know, and if we do that the 
whole thing will blow up. I think the meaning clearly is: I do not want to let 
my Directors do that or there will be trouble. He did not go in, but he did the 
next best thing, sold the stock at par to Mr. Daly. Now was it honest, was it 
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right, was it what you wuuld rxprl·t, whf'n ?\1r. Hrmry had suggl'~tc·<l a pool to 
keep the sto<'k up to 80, to ~ell it at 100 to innocmt un:m~prrting farmers all 
over Canada and thr Wf':-t? Yrt that is what took pla<'l'. 

Prorrrdings stand adjournrd at 4.30 p.m., :\Jon<lay, 19th May, 1924, until 
10 rl.m., Tuesday, 20th l\Iay, 1924. 
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